Public Document Pack

North Devon Council
Brynsworthy Environment Centre
Barnstaple
North Devon EX31 3NP
K. Miles
Chief Executive.

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
A meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee will be held in the Barum Room Brynsworthy on MONDAY, 5TH JULY, 2021 at 10.00 am.
(NOTE: A location plan for the Brynsworthy Environment Centre is attached to the
agenda front pages. From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold
formal meetings in person. The council is also required to follow Government
guidance and ensure that all venues used are Covid secure and that all
appropriate measures are put in place. There are a limited number of spaces
available for members of the public to attend. Please check the Council’s website
for the latest information regarding the arrangements that are in place and the
requirement to book a place 2 working days prior to the meeting Taking part in
meetings (northdevon.gov.uk)

Members of the Strategy and Resources Councillor Worden (Chair)
Committee
Councillors Crabb, Knight, Lane, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear,
Wilkinson and Yabsley

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meetings held on 12 April 2021
and 17 May 2021 (attached). (Pages 7 - 24)

3.

Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by
the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4.

Declarations of Interests.
(Please telephone the Corporate and Community Services team to prepare a form
for your signature before the meeting. Interests must be re-declared when the
item is called, and Councillors must leave the room if necessary).

5.

To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted
Information).

PART 'A'
6.

Role of Sustainability and Climate Officer

Sustainability and Climate Officer to report.
7.

Exclusion of Public and Press and Restriction of Documents
RECOMMENDED:
(a) That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and
press be excluded from the meeting for the following items as they involve the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3, Part 1 Schedule
12A of the Act (as amended from time to time), namely information relating to the
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority
holding that information); and
(b) That all documents and reports relating to the items be confirmed as “Not for
Publication”.

PART 'B' (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION)
8.

Land at Westacott - Public Consultation response and decision on land
disposal (Pages 25 - 66)
Report by Head of Resources (attached)

9.

Re-admittance of Public and Press
It is RECOMMENDED that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting.

PART "A"
10.

Land at Westacott - Public Consultation Response and Decision on Land
Disposal (Pages 67 - 104)
Report by Head of Resources (attached).

11.

Tarka Leisure Centre Update
Contracts Delivery Manager to report.

12.

Houses in Multiple Occupation: Amenity Standards, Minimum Room Sizing
and Licence Conditions (Pages 105 - 152)
Joint report by Public Protection Manager and Graduate Environmental Health
Officer (attached)

13.

Performance and Financial Management Quarter 4 2020/21 (Pages 153 - 194)
Report by Head of Resources (attached)

14.

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020/21 (Pages 195 - 204)
Report by Head of Resources (attached)

2

15.

Afghan Locally Employed Staff (LES) Relocation Scheme (Pages 205 - 210)
Report by Head of Environmental Health and Housing (attached)

16.

Urgent decisions taken by the Chief Executive (Pages 211 - 230)
To note the urgent decisions that have been made by the Chief Executive in
accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annexe 2, Part 3 of the Constitution (attached)

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253

25.06.21

3

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making.
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is
respected.
The rules that the Council will apply are:
1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we
know recording is taking place.
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording
if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public
is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off.
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that
agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the
earliest opportunity.
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.
Notes for guidance:
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk.

4

North Devon Council offices at Brynsworthy, the full address is:
Brynsworthy Environment Centre (BEC), Roundswell,
Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 3NP.
Sat Nav postcode is EX31 3NS.
At the Roundswell roundabout take the exit onto the B3232, after about ½ mile take the
first right, BEC is about ½ a mile on the right.
Drive into the site, visitors parking is in front of the main building on the left hand side.
On arrival at the main entrance, please sign in using the Track and Trace App and follow
the signage and instructions in order to access the Meeting Rooms. Alternatively, dial
8253 for Corporate and Community Services if you have any problems.

5

6

PublicStrategy
Document
Pack Agenda Item
and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
Minutes of a meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee held as a Virtual Online meeting on Monday, 12th April, 2021 at 10.00 am
PRESENT:

Members:
Councillor Worden (Chair)
Councillors Knight, Lane, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear,
Wilkinson and Yabsley
Officers:
Chief Executive, Head of Environmental Health and Housing,
Solicitor, Public Protection Manager, Graduate Environmental Health
Officer, Service Lead – Environmental Protection, Contracts Delivery
Manager
Also Present:
Councillors Ley and D. Spear

1.

VIRTUAL MEETING PROCEDURE - BRIEFING AND ETIQUETTE

To mark the death of His Royal Highness Prince Philip a minutes silence was
observed.
The Chair outlined the virtual meeting procedure and etiquette to the Committee and
Attendees. The Corporate and Community Services Officer confirmed the Members
who were present.
2.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Crabb and Lofthouse.
3.

TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE
MEETING HELD ON 1 MARCH 2021 (ATTACHED)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2021 (circulated
previously) be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.
4.

ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE
CHAIR SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE MEETING AS A
MATTER OF URGENCY

There were no items brought forward, which in the opinion of the Chair, should be
considered by the meeting as a matter of urgency.
5.

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS

1

Page 7

2

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021

The following declaration of interest was announced:
Councillor L. Spear declared a personal interest in item 13, Review of North Devon
Council Off-Street Parking Places Order as she was the Chair of Braunton Parish
Council.
6.

BATSWORTHY CROSS WINDFARM

The Committee considered a report by the Service Lead – Environmental Protection
(circulated previously) regarding Batsworthy Cross Windfarm.
The Service Lead – Environmental Protection gave the Committee the following
highlights:
 Noise monitoring at the site confirmed compliance with Planning
conditions at five of the six locations
 The non-compliance at the sixth location occurred at a wind speed of
seven miles an hour only
 The Operator had proposed a strategy to mitigate this problem
 Calculations undertaken by the Council’s acoustic consultant to verify
the potential effectiveness of the strategy utilised data gathered in
previous noise monitoring exercises associated with the site
 Officers were satisfied that the proposals would provide compliance
and proposed advising the Operator to implement the solution in full
 The exceedance of 1.5 decibels of noise was not an audible sound to
the human ear
 The final report had been circulated more widely than normally to
ensure all stakeholders had the opportunity to present their
comments
 Rose Ash Parish Council had submitted late comments on the final
report to the Service Lead – Environment Protection Officer who
requested to share their response
 In summary the Parish Council advised that all they wanted was for
North Devon Council to carry out recommendations that ensured
compliance with the Planning Inspectorate’s conditions
 Officers had secured the co-operation of the Operator to implement
this strategy – which would result in compliance – as well as the
highest level of environmental protection it was currently possible to
obtain
In response to the unanswered questions raised by the Batsworthy Noise Group.
The Service Lead – Environment Protection Officer responded that North Devon
Council were in compliance with the Planning Inspectorate requirements and that
detailed responses had been given to the numerous requests for information.
Although there were further questions in the consultation response, these had been
reviewed and it was considered that there was no relevant details to warrant
amending the proposed course of action as set out in the Officer report. All
questions and further comments, however, would be answered/addressed in the
fullness of time.
The Chair invited Jane Faust to address the Committee.
2

Page 8

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021

Jane Faust addressed the Committee.
In response to the first question raised by Jane Faust the Chief Executive advised
that the question did not relate to the report being considered and would be
addressed outside of this Committee as a separate matter.
Jane Faust asked about the compliance issue as the Inspectorate stated that
compliance was binary not suggestive and if there was a non-compliance on site
then further investigation of this should be undertaken. The Service Lead –
Environment Protection Officer responded that the assessment of noise compliance
had been undertaken in relation to guidance from Planning.
The Chair invited David Morgans to address the Committee.
David Morgans addressed the Committee.
In response to Mr Morgan’s comments. The Service Lead – Environment Protection
Officer advised that it was not appropriate to discuss the technicalities of the noise
level readings but that the findings in the report were correct. The challenge of
taking measurements against background wind noise would not give viable readings.
The Senior Solicitor/Monitoring Officer had reviewed the report being presented to
the Committee by the Service Lead – Environmental Protection Officer and had not
raised any issues with it from a legal perspective.
The Chair invited Bob Davis, independent noise consultant, to address the
Committee.
Mr Davis addressed the Committee.
RESOLVED that under delegated powers, officers ask the Operator, to implement
the proposed mitigation strategy in full, and provide written confirmation to the
Council (within 21 days of the request having been made of them) that this has been
done.

7.

SECTION 19 BARNSTAPLE FLOODING UPDATE

The Committee considered the Section 19 Barnstaple Flooding update report
(circulated previously).
The Chair invited Martin Hutchings from Devon County Council to address the
Committee.
Mr Hutchings provided the following update:
 Devon County Council had confirmed that they had a duty to
investigate the event that occurred last August 2020 in Barnstaple
which was identified as a flooding event
 Devon County Council took the lead in the investigation with
3

Page 9

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021







assistance from South West Water, Devon County Highways and the
Environment Agency
A wide area had been affected with no one specific location
The event happened at a point of the six year agreement with Defra
was coming to an end so was a good opportunity to add Barnstaple
into their new strategy which was endorsed by Devon County
Council’s Cabinet at its meeting in February 2021
It normally took five years from the point of a flooding event taking
place to a strategy being put in place but that it was hoped
Barnstaple would be included for the 2022/2023 year
A Section 19 report was a very high level report and the risk areas
highlighted would be included in any new strategy drafted

In response to questions Mr Hutchings gave the following answers:
 Other locations not highlighted on the map such as Bishops Tawton
were being managed by other Risk Management Agencies such as
the Environment Agency
 Due to funding issues their scheme was currently on hold
 The sewage system would be looked at by South West Water who
were aware of the issues and were working with consultants to find
solutions
 New housing developments had to ensure there was no run off of
rain water from their development, Devon County Council had drawn
up its strategy for new developments in conjunction with the national
strategy so no new development would increase run off and this was
taken very seriously
 Retro fitting on established highways was not something Mr
Hutchings was aware of but that rain gardens were being created in
schools with several schools in Barnstaple identified to take part in
this project
The Committee noted the report.
8.

CLIMATE ACTION TEAM WORKING GROUP

The Committee considered the resolution from Council to set up a Climate Action
Team Working Group.
The Chief Executive reiterated that this motion was to formalise the Climate working
group and requested that Group Leaders send him their nominations for the Working
Group, and the group was to be made up of ten members although this could be
amended if needed.
The Head of Environmental Health and Housing advised that of the 17 who had
applied for the post of Climate Change Officer, six had been short listed for interview.
The Head of Environmental Health and Housing advised the Committee that a joint
post with Torridge District Council was in the process of being filled.
RESOLVED that the Climate Action Team be formally constituted, made up of 10
Members, and to report back to Strategy and Resources within six months.
4

Page 10

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021

9.

HOME ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND FUEL POVERTY

The Committee considered the Home Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty report
(circulated previously), by the Head of Environmental Health and Housing.
The Head of Environmental Health and Housing gave the Committee the following
highlights:
 This report sets out five programmes of work to support the
promotion of home energy efficiency
 This would give the Council the ability to gain Eco grants and offer
home efficiency grants to households in the area
 Domestic energy usage accounted for a huge amount of Carbon
emissions in the region of 138,000 tonnes per annum and this
programme would further support the Council’s ambition of becoming
Carbon Neutral
 The Carbon Action Team had scrutinised the Home Energy
Efficiency report and requested that three comments be brought to
the attention of the Committee, firstly the opportunity to maximise the
introduction of renewables by offering less carbon intense forms of
heating, secondly to maximise using local supply chains and thirdly
for the Officers to keep an eye on any unintended consequences of
this programme. The housing market was currently very fragile,
therefore, any detrimental actions arising as a result of the Council’s
activities would be kept under review
 Would like the three comments to be addition recommendations put
forward to the Committee
The Chair agreed to add the additional points to the recommendations to be voted
on. These were (1) the opportunity to maximise the introduction of renewable
energy sources, (2) the use of local supply chains and (3) scrutiny of any unintended
negative consequences on the Council’s programmes within the Housing market.
In response to questions raised by Members. The Head of Environmental Health and
Housing provided the following:
 Assurance was given that rural housing pockets would be offered the
services and interventions being delivered to make their homes
energy efficient
 There are challenges to removing gas boilers and fitting heat pumps
but that a programme of retro fitting would be undertaken shortly in
conjunction with 361 Energy
RESOLVED:
(i) that the five point programme be adopted as set out in paragraph 4.5
of the Officers report,
(ii) that the cross sector framework to address fuel poverty as set out in
Appendix A be noted,
(iii) the opportunity to use renewables was maximised
(iv) the use of local supply chains, and
(v) any detrimental outcomes as a result of the Council’s programme be
5

Page 11

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021

scrutinised
10.

PROPOSED EXTENSION OF EXISTING POLICY DEROGATIONS
DUE TO COVID 19

The Committee considered the Proposed Extension of Existing Policy Derogations
report (circulated previously) by the Public Protection Manager.
The Public Protection Manager gave the Committee the following highlights:
 This report arose from a recommendation that came from Licensing
and Community Safety Committee on 9th February 2021
 The recommendation was for a continuation of derogations approved
by the Chief Executive last March 2020 in respect of the Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy and are proposed due to
the continuing effect of Covid-19 restrictions to business
 The recommendations cover two areas the first being the maximum
age of a vehicle and secondly Licence fees, whereby should a driver
surrender their licence over concerns due to transporting passengers
and the re-applies their fee would be calculated on a pro rata rate up
to 1st July 2021
RESOLVED that the proposed derogations from the current North Devon Council
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy (as outlined in the report) are
made until 1st July 2021, in respect of the following two areas;
(a) Maximum age of vehicle, and
(b) Calculation of fees
11.

HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION: AMENITY STANDARDS,
MINIMUM ROOM SIZING AND LICENCE CONDITIONS

The Committee considered the Houses in Multiple Occupation: Amenity Standards,
Minimum Room Sizing and Licence Conditions report (circulated previously) by the
Public Protection Manager and Graduate Environmental Health Practitioner.
The Public Protection Manager introduced a new colleague Tanisha Rowswell,
Graduate (Trainee) Environmental Health Practitioner.
The Committee received a joint presentation relating to Houses in Multiple
Occupation from the Public Protection Manager and the Graduate (Trainee)
Environmental Health Practitioner. The following summary was heard:
 The definition of a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) was given in
the Housing Act 2004
 Mandatory licensing rules were brought in under the Licensing
Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description) (England)
Order 2018. This gave the requirement for a licence to be obtained
for all properties with five or more occupants from two or more
separate households, who shared a bathroom, toilet or kitchen
 North Devon currently had 43 licensed HMO’s with an additional 250
6

Page 12

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021










now falling under the new regime
Of the five prescribed standards it was hoped to implement locally
adopted standards
Heating; introduction of fixed heating sources with occupier
controlled heating to a minimum of 21 degrees when the temperature
outside was below zero
Personal washing facilities; to ensure a bathroom was not more than
two storeys away from a bedroom
Kitchen facilities; depending on whether the accommodation was a
bedsit or shared house there were different standards such as the
number of appliances and storage units available
Waste disposal; the licence holder would be required to provide
appropriate external and internal waste storage facilities
Due to the volume of applications for licences and the resource
implications in processing these the licence period renewal would
remain at five years
With authorisation from the Committee a six week consultation
period would be carried out seeking stakeholders views on the
proposals
The analysed results would be presented at the July 2021 meeting

The Committee noted the proposed changes to Amenity standards and Room Sizing
requirements, the proposed licensing standards and the period of renewal for a
licence
RESOLVED that the Graduate Environmental Health Officer carry out a six week
consultation on the proposed revisions to amenity standards, minimum room size
requirements and licence conditions.
12.

REVIEW OF NORTH DEVON COUNCIL OFF STREET PARKING
PLACES ORDER

The Committee considered a Review of North Devon Council Off-Street Parking
Places Order report (circulated previously), by the Acting Car Parks Manager.
The Chief Executive gave the Committee the following highlights:
 The report showed minor changes and included requests from Parish
Councils
 Electric Vehicle Bays should only be in use by electric vehicles which
were charging
 The proposed change to the Pier car park had been put forward by
Councillor Pearson who was invited to present the rationale for the
proposal
Councillor Pearson gave the Committee the following summary:


The summer of 2020 saw a high number of visitors to the town of
Ilfracombe which caused problems with traffic and parking
7

Page 13

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021




The plan to part pedestrianise Quay Road and change the short stay
Pier car park to a long stay car park it was hoped would help reduce
the number of vehicles travelling down Quay Road and therefore
ease congestion
Ilfracombe Town Council were supportive of this idea and had set
aside funds to help implement the changes. To help towards the
cost of additional signage and the creation of the pedestrian friendly
space along Quay Road

The Chief Executive advised the Committee that the changes proposed could not be
be implemented at the start of May as at least 21 days’ notice was required
advertising the proposed changes. Officers were unable to say whether the changes
would be beneficial to the Council. In addition the Water Sports construction started
in June 2021 and there would be a reduction in parking spaces at Marine Drive car
park as a result of this. Signage advertising the change to the Pier car park would
be vital as the success on reducing traffic flow along Quay Road depended on this.
Changing the nature of the Pier car park would require a public consultation.
Councillor Lane raised the point that Swimbridge did not have a pay and display car
park and that the report may need to be amended to reflect that the car park was at
Landkey.
The Chief Executive advised that the findings of a public consultation could be
brought back to a future meeting to decide on how to proceed.
Councillor Prowse asked for the item to be added to the agenda for a future meeting
of Strategy and Resources.
RESOLVED that the recommendations put forward by Parishes and North Devon
Council be adopted, with the correction of reference to Swimbridge to Landkey, for
inclusion in the revised Off Street Parking Order.
13.

LITTERING STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION

The Committee considered the Littering Strategy Implementation report (circulated
previously), by the Service Manager Operational Services and Environmental
Protection Service Lead.
In the absence of the Service Manger Operational Services the Service Lead –
Environment Protection Officer asked for Group Leaders to email their nominations
to this working group to the Chief Executive.
RESOLVED that a working group be set up in order to identify litter problem areas
and problem litter behaviours and to identify suitable mitigation measures along with
a plan for their implementation.
14.

URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

8

Page 14

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021

The Committee noted the urgent decisions that had been made by the Chief
Executive in accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annex 2, part 3 of the Constitution
(circulated previously), regarding officer authorisations.
15.

LEISURE CONTRACT PAYMENTS

The Committee considered the Leisure Contract Payments report (circulated
previously), by the Contracts Delivery Manager.
The Contracts Delivery Manager gave the Committee the following highlights:
 Due to the enforced closure of Leisure facilities because of Covid-19,
North Devon Council had previously made payments to support the
Leisure centres and help keep them running
 £217,000 had been paid to Parkwood Leisure with an additional
£180,000 in Leisure recovery funding from Sport England
 Having two lockdowns in quick succession of each other had proven
to be more expensive for the Leisure Centres
 Despite having received payments from the Council and the Leisure
recovery funds the Leisure contractor was still running suffering
losses on the North Devon contract
 This further assistance of £59,000 was being sought to cover losses
in February and March 2021
 It was very likely a second round of Leisure recovery funding would
be announced which would also be applied for when open
 An additional £12,000 had been received from Sport England which
was being put towards the £59,000 being requested
RESOLVED that That North Devon Council makes a grant payment of £59,000 to
Parkwood Leisure to cover losses experienced in the months of February & March
due to Covid-19.
16.

ROADMAP OUT OF LOCKDOWN

The Committee considered the Roadmap out of lockdown presentation (circulated
previously), by the Chief Executive and the Communications Team.
The Chief Executive gave the Committee the following highlights:
 This roadmap was drawn up to look at how the national lockdown
and easement would affect us locally
 Resources had been allocated to respond to local Business’s
readying for reopening from 8th March 2021
 The Communications Team Explore from your Door had been picked
up regionally
 From 29th March 2021 Groups of six could meet up outdoors and
with the stay at home message changing it was expected there
would be longer day trips out
 From 12th April non-essential Businesses could re-open which
included self-contained accommodation, hairdressers, and Zoo’s
 An update from the Barnstaple town Manager had indicated that the
High Street was very busy
9

Page 15

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021






To help discharge the Council’s responsibility to house the homeless
holiday accommodation had been used for placements which now
meant alternatives had to be found
If the situation permitted from 17th May 2021 the anticipated next
steps would be for B&B’s to reopen and hospitality venues could
serve inside
Pop up campsites and car parks were still permitted with no recourse
to notifying the local authority
A review of all activities was due to take place on 21st June 2021 with
all legal restrictions being lifted
The G7 summit event due to take place 11-13 June 2021 could
impact North Devon in as much as there could be an increased risk
of demonstrations

The Committee noted the excellent roadmap presentation.
17.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS AND RESTRICTION OF
DOCUMENTS

RESOLVED:
(i) That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following
item as it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Paragraphs 3 and 4, Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Act
(as amended from time to time), namely information relating to
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including
the authority holding that information) and information relating to
any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations
or negotiations, in connection with any labour relating matter
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and
employees of, or office holders under, the authority
(ii) That all documents and reports relating to the item be confirmed as
“Not for Publication”
18.

VEHICLE AND FLEET MAINTENANCE TENDER

The Committee considered the Vehicle and Fleet Maintenance Tender report
(circulated previously), by the Operations Manager.
On behalf of the Operations Manager, who was unable to be present, the Chief
Executive gave the Committee summary points from the report.
Members asked questions and the Chief Executive and Accounts Manager gave the
Committee the necessary responses enabling the Committee to make its vote on the
recommendations.
RESOLVED that the contract be awarded to the bidder for a term of seven years
with the option to extend for a further seven years.

Chair
10

Page 16

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 12 April 2021

The meeting ended at 1.02 pm
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of
the Committee.

11

Page 17

Agenda Item 2

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 17 May 2021
Appendix A
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee held at Barum Room Brynsworthy on Monday, 17th May, 2021 at 10.00 am
PRESENT:

Members:
Councillor Worden (Chair)
Councillors Lane, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear, Wilkinson and Yabsley
Officers:
Chief Executive, Head of Resources, Senior Solicitor/Monitoring
Officer, Property Manager, Senior Regeneration Officer, Solicitor and
Data Protection Officer, Estates Officer, Regeneration Manager,
Sustainability Officer and Parks, Leisure and Culture Officer
Also Present:
Councillors Hunt, Leaver, D. Spear and Walker

19.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Knight, Lofthouse and
Patrinos.
20.

ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE
CHAIR SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE MEETING AS A
MATTER OF URGENCY.

There were no items brought forward, which in the opinion of the Chair, should be
considered by the meeting as a matter of urgency.
21.

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS.

The following declaration of interest was announced:
Councillor L. Spear – item 5 personal interest as Chair of Braunton Parish Council.
22.

ORDER OF AGENDA

The Leader advised that part of item 9 would be considered in Part A of the agenda.
The Committee agreed to consider item 9 before item 8 on the agenda.
23.

APPROVAL AND RELEASE OF S106 PUBLIC OPEN SPACE
FUNDS - BRAUNTON

1

Page 19

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee
Appendix -A17 May 2021
The Committee considered a report by the Project, Procurement and Open Space
Officer (circulated previously) regarding the allocation of section 106 public open
space funds towards projects in Braunton.
The Committee noted a typographical error in paragraph 2.2, which should have
stated “2.2.1 and 2.2.2 above”.
RESOLVED that section 106 public open space funds be allocated as follows:
(a) £26,992.57 to Braunton Parish Council towards the enhancement of Chaloners
Road Play Area.
(b) £28,498.58 to Braunton Cricket Club towards the provision of an artificial grass
training facility and nets.
RECOMMENDED:
(c) Subject to approval of (a) and (b) above, that Council be recommended to vary
the capital programme by £55,491.15 and that funds be released, subject to a
Funding Agreement upon such terms and conditions as may be agreed by the
Senior Solicitor, for external projects.
24.

BRAUNTON BURROWS SPECIAL AREA OF CONSERVATION
VISITOR IMPACT STRATEGY

The Committee considered a report by the Sustainability Officer (circulated
previously) regarding the finalised Visitor Mitigation Strategy for Braunton Burrows
Special Area of Conservation (SAC).
Councillor Lane declared a personal interest as a builder and a developer.
In response to questions from the Committee, the Sustainability Officer advised the
following:







The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 sets out a duty
to maintain and restore European Designated Sites. Local authorities were
required to have regard to the implications of plans or projects on the integrity
of protected site’s conservation objectives.
Evidence produced since the adoption of the North Devon and Torridge Local
Plan (the “Local Plan”) concluded that, as a result of increasing visitor
pressure, adverse effects on the integrity of the SAC could not be ruled out
and development which contributed to the harm of the SAC should not be
granted without appropriate mitigation measures being in place.
Natural England had advised that a formal mitigation strategy must be
produced to provide certainty on what mitigation measures are required and
the cost of delivery.
In 2019, the Council commissioned Footprint Ecology, who were national
experts, to assess potential impacts on Braunton Burrows SAC as a result of
further non plan-led development in-combination with that allocated for within
the Local Plan. The Braunton Burrows SAC – An Assessment of the Potential
2

Page 20

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee
Appendix -A17 May 2021






Recreational Impacts Linked to Non Plan-Led Development report was
finalised in March 2019. Footprint Ecology assessed visitor behaviour, type of
impact and origin of impact.
Natural England had responded to the report produced by Footprint Ecology
and advised that the appropriate assessment to accompany all new
applications would need to address measures for mitigation.
The developer contributions sought could only legally be used for Braunton
Burrows SAC and could not be transferrable to another area. In accordance
with the Habitat Regulations, only potential impacts on Braunton Burrows
SAC were perceived to be significant and warrant further assessment and
mitigation.
The costs included within the action plan of the Mitigation Strategy were
estimates to mitigate impacts for the remainder of the Joint Local Plan. The
Strategy was provided by a reputed consultant. The figures would be kept
under constant review.

RESOLVED:
(a) That the Local Authority commence collection of developer contributions at a
revised rate of £190 per unit (including administration fees) on any development
resulting in a net gain in temporary or permanent residential or holiday
accommodation within the identified Zone of Influence (ZoI);
(b) That the rate of contributions be placed under constant review to ensure that the
delivery of development within the ZOI was sufficient to fund the strategy’s capital
costs and recurring costs as set in Table 1 of the Strategy;
(c) That the Braunton Burrows SAC Mitigation Strategy action plan be reviewed in
two years time;
RECOMMENDED:
(d) That Full Council be recommended to amend the Scheme of delegations to
provide delegated power to the Senior Solicitor to enter into undertaking and
obligations under section 106 Town and County Planning Act and/or section 111
Local Government Act 1972 to secure contributions;
(e) That Full Council be recommended to amend the Scheme of delegations to
provide delegated power to the Senior Solicitor to develop a legal agreement with
Christie Estates for developer contributions collected for the purpose of Braunton
Burrows SAC mitigation to fund a Christie’s appointed 60% full time equivalent
Engagement Officer.
25.

LAND AT WESTACOTT - PUBLIC CONSULTATION

The Head of Resources provided an update to the Committee on the areas of the
Land at Westacott – Public Consultation report which were not confidential or
commercially sensitive.
The Head of Resources highlighted the following:
3

Page 21

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee
Appendix -A17 May 2021














North Devon Council owned the freehold of the land at Westacott, Westacott
Road, Barnstaple.
The owner of the adjacent land had approached the Council for permission to
access their site over the Council’s land at Westacott in accordance with the
outline planning consent. The land consisted of 2.5 acres and was currently
used as Public Open Space.
Within the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031 the land was
identified as a site for a secondary access to BAR1.
BAR1 was a site comprised of numerous plots of land with various owners
and had been identified in the local plan to deliver 950 homes, with its main
access from proposed roundabout at the Landkey junction.
The Council had been successful in securing Housing Infrastructure Fund
monies to help deliver the Landkey roundabout which formed the primary
access to BAR1.
The existing park covered an area of approximately 12,000 square metres.
The plans showed that 1400 square meters of the existing park would be
taken up by the road. An equivalent amount of informal open space would be
replaced around the site of the proposed Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) and
it was proposed that an additional informal open space would be provided in
the form of a hill top park. It was proposed that a MUGA and junior sports
pitch would be provided. A minimum of 10 pieces of play equipment would be
provided (5 to replace the existing and 5 additional pieces). This would result
in an overall net gain and increase of open space to approximately 27,000
square metres.
Under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council had the
power to dispose of land held by them but this was limited by subsection 2A
“That the council may not dispose of Open Space unless before disposing of
the land they cause notice of their intention to do so to be advertised in two
consecutive weeks in a newspaper circulating in the area in which the land is
situated, and consider any objections to the proposed disposal which may be
made to them”.
If the Committee agreed to go out to public consultation it was intended to
advertise the potential disposal in the Gazette and North Devon Journal on
the 20th and 27th May 2021 with closure for responses on 18 June 2021.
The consultation responses together with all of the facts would be presented
to the Committee at its meeting in July 2021 to consider.

In response to a question, the Estates Officer confirmed that the area of land
consisted of 2.5 acres. The public open space would be managed by a management
company and not owned by the Council.
Councillor Hunt (in her capacity as Ward Member) addressed the Committee.
Councillor Leaver (in her capacity as Devon County Councillor) addressed the
Committee.
In response to questions, the Head of Resources advised the following:

4

Page 22

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee
Appendix -A17 May 2021




The advertisement was prescribed, however a separate press release would
be issued setting out the facts and the reasons for the consultation. The draft
press release could be shared with Ward Members prior to publication. The
proposals for the public open space would be made clear and that the park
would not be lost.
2 weeks consultation period was considered to be adequate as it was
anticipated that the majority of consultation responses would be submitted
promptly. This would allow 2 weeks for officers to collate the results.

In response to a question, the Chief Executive advised that it was a public site and
that Members could visit the public open space, however Members needed to
remember that the committee was not determining a planning application. If
Members wished to visit, it should not be an organised visit.
26.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS AND RESTRICTION OF
DOCUMENTS

RESOLVED:
(a) That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and
press be excluded from the meeting for the following items as they involved the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3, Part 1 Schedule 12A of
the Act (as amended from time to time), namely information relating to the financial
or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information); and
(b) That all documents and reports relating to the items be confirmed as “Not for
Publication”.
27.

LAND AT WESTACOTT - PUBLIC CONSULTATION

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Resources (circulated previously)
regarding land at Westacott – public consultation.
The Head of Resources and Estates Officer provided responses to questions raised
by the Committee.
RESOLVED:
(a) that the Head of Resources be authorised to undertake the appropriate
advertisement of the potential disposal of the land at Westacott and call for public
consultation in accordance with section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972;
(b) That a report be presented back to the Committee with the responses of the
public consultation so that Members are able to consider the responses received and
whether or not to agree to the disposal of the land in accordance to the offer
received.
28.

EV CHARGING - SUPPLIER RESOLUTION

5

Page 23

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee
Appendix -A17 May 2021
The Committee considered a joint report by the Senior Regeneration Officer and
Solicitor/Data Protection Officer (circulated previously) regarding securing a supplier
resolution for the procurement of rapid Electric Vehicle Charging points.
The Senior Regeneration Officer and Solicitor/Data Protection Officer provided
responses to questions raised by the Committee.
RESOLVED that the Council collaborate with Osprey to ensure proposed
amendments to the Concession and Lease agreements were suitable to both parties
for the procurement of rapid Electric Vehicle Charging points.

Chair
The meeting ended at 11.30 am
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of
the Committee.

6

Page 24

Agenda Item 8

Document is Restricted

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

Document is Restricted

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix B

Document is Restricted

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix C

Document is Restricted

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D

Document is Restricted

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E

Document is Restricted

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix F

Document is Restricted

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Appendix G

Document is Restricted

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

North Devon Council
Report to:

Strategy & Resources Committee

Report Date:

5th July 2021

Topic:

Land at Westacott – Public Consultation Response & Decision on
Land Disposal

Report by:

Head of Resources

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. North Devon Council own the freehold of the land at Westacott, Westacott
Road, Barnstaple.
1.2. The land is of 2.5 acres and is currently used as Public Open Space.
1.3. Within the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031 the land is
identified as a site for a secondary access to develop BAR1.
1.4. The adjacent land currently has Outline Planning Consent for the development
of up to 149 residential units including vehicular access across the same public
open space at Westacott.
1.5. The owner of the adjacent land has approached the council for permission to
access their site over the Council’s land at Westacott in accordance with the
Outline Planning Consent.
1.6. Negotiations with the developer have resulted in an offer for the freehold of the
land.
1.7. In accordance to the Local Government Act 1972, in order to dispose of public
open space a council is required to undertake public consultation.
1.8. Further to the Strategic & Resources Committee Meeting on 17th May, a public
consultation process commenced on 18th May and closed on 14th June and the
results of which are within this report.

Page 67

Agenda Item 10
2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. Members to carry out their Statutory Duty to consider the Public Consultation
responses that have been submitted to the Council as set out in 4.19 and make
a decision as to whether to proceed with the proposed disposal of land.
2.2. Subject to 2.1 the Strategy & Resources Committee authorise the Head of
Resources to finalise terms to dispose of Land at Westacott for value, to
include the purchase price and fee to Devon County Council to release the
restrictive covenant as per the Heads of Terms.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. Members have a statutory duty to consider the above responses that resulted
from the public consultation and weigh these against the developers offer and
the planning need as set out in BAR1 of the Local Plan.
3.2. To achieve the strategic access to BAR1 in accordance to the North Devon &
Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031.
3.3. To achieve a capital receipt.
3.4. To achieve an enhanced provision of Public Open Space at Westacott
4. REPORT
4.1. North Devon Council own the freehold of the land at Westacott, Westacott
Road, Barnstaple. Please see the attached plan (Appendix A)
4.2. The land is of 2.5 acres and is currently used as Public Open Space.
4.3. The freehold title has a Restrictive Covenant in favour of Devon County
Council which restricts development other than residential of not more than 22
dwellings and play area.
4.4. Within the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031 the land is
identified as a site for a secondary access to BAR1

Page 68

Agenda Item 10
4.5. BAR01 is a site comprised of numerous plots of land with various owners and
has been identified in the local plan to deliver 950 homes, with its main access
from proposed roundabout at the Landkey junction. This land allocation
contributes significantly towards delivery of the housing provided for in the
adopted local plan. Further details on BAR 1 can be seen below.

4.6. The adjacent land currently has Outline Planning Consent for the development
of up to 149 residential units including vehicular access, landscaping, open
space, drainage and infrastructure. All matters reserved apart from access.
Planning Application No 62187. Please see the attached Plan (Appendix B).
4.7. Within the Outline Planning Consent 62187, the Council’s land is proposed to
provide vehicular and pedestrian access into the development alongside public
open space.
4.8. Within the Outline Planning Consent 62187, the developer is required to
develop the road to their boundary to facilitate access to the larger part of
BAR1 and achieve a comprehensive and sustainable development.
4.9. The owner of the adjacent land has now approached the council for permission
to access their site over the Council’s land at Westacott in line with the Outline
Planning Consent.
4.10. On the 9th June 2021, the developer submitted its Reserved Matters
Application. Reserved matters application (appearance, landscaping, layout &
scale) for erection of 134 dwellings & associated site infrastructure (outline
planning permission 62187 (residential development of up to 149 residential units
including vehicular access, landscaping, open space, drainage, infrastructure &
all associated development (some matters reserved) (amendments).The status
of the application is currently pending.
4.11. In March 2020 the Council obtained an independent valuation from Alder King.
Alder King have confirmed in April 2021 that the valuation of the site remains the
same. Confidential information and is contained within Part B version of report
4.12. Negotiations with the developer have resulted in an offer for the freehold.
Confidential information and is contained within Part B version of report
4.13. In accordance to the Local Government Act 1972, in order to dispose of public
open space the council is required to undertake public consultation which entails
placing an advert in both the North Devon Journal and the Gazette for a period
of 2 consecutive weeks and await a minimum of 2 weeks for responses from
members of the public. That public notice period has now expired and the results
are shown below at 4.19. In deciding whether to dispose of the land, the

Page 69

Agenda Item 10
Committee need to consider the results of the public notice, but also consider all
of the other factors set out in this report.
4.14. DCC RESTRICTIVE COVENANT & OFFER
4.14.1. The Council’s freehold title has a Restrictive Covenant in favour of Devon
County Council which restricts development other than residential of not more
than 22 dwellings and play area.
4.14.2. Negotiations on the release of the restricted covenant have taken place with
Devon County Council (DCC) based on the valuation from Alder King.
Confidential information and is contained within Part B version of report
4.15 ALTERNATIVE SECONDARY ACCESS
4.15.1 Policy BAR01 envisaged that there might be other options for provision for
secondary access. The developers have looked to see if they could secure an
alternative access to their site by utilising the adjacent industrial estate at Castle
Park Road however this has proved to be unsuccessful to date.
4.15.2 This alternative access involves private land owners and is therefore outside
of the control of NDC’s land ownership and also has other constraints, not least
the fact that it would pass through a flood zone and therefore subject to a
sequential test and would also be using roads that are unsuitable to the County
Council.
4.15.3 Members can only consider the access route before them but in doing so
need to understand the impact of their decision
4.16DETAILS OF CURRENT OPEN SPACE PROVISION AGAINST PROVISION
WITHIN PLANNING APP 62187 AS PROVIDED BY PLANNING
4.16.1 The public open space strategy of Planning Application 62187 is based on the
creation of a hilltop park meeting the informal recreational needs of the
development and an improved public park in compensation for the loss of
the area to be used for the access to provide:
a)
c)

d)

minimum of 10 pieces of play equipment plus associated infrastructure;
b) a MUGA
informal pitch area to be upgraded to provide a junior pitch (7v7 mini-soccer,
which is used for local league junior football. The pitch measurements would be
55 x 37 metres (2035 m2). A minimum of 2m run off is required around the
pitch) with suitable pitch drainage, line markings and goal posts (12ft wide x 6ft
high)
off-site open space contribution of £59,850 in respect of Built Recreation
Facilities

Page 70

Agenda Item 10

4.16.2 The Parks Team have required the developer to provide a scheme which
retains and replaces and upgrades the existing provision as well as providing
for the needs of new residents. The plans show that 1400sqm of the existing
park will be taken up by the road. An equivalent amount of informal open space
will be replaced around the site of the proposed MUGA. Additional informal
open space will be provided in the form of a hill top park.
4.16.3 The scheme is policy compliant in respect of equipped play providing additional
play equipment (5 to replace the existing which is nearing the end of its useful
life and 5 to serve the needs of new residents) and the provision of a MUGA to
meet the needs of older children. The Parks Team have considered the best
location for a sports pitch and would wish to see the existing informal kick
around area upgraded to a Junior Pitch. They consider that the improvements
to drainage and the realignment would allow this pitch to be used by 7 aside
teams for league events. As with all schemes an off-site contribution would be
sought towards Build Recreation facilities. This could potentially be directed to
the delivery of facilities required by the wider allocation. Policy BAR01 3(e)
requires a neighbourhood hub that forms a focus to meet the community’s
needs and offers complementary services and facilities rather than replacing
those available elsewhere in the town centre. The scheme could provide a
financial contribution to such facilities if so required.

4.16.4 A summary of provision is set out below:

Existing Park

Existing SQ M
10,117 sqm

Informal Open Space

Pitch

1,500 sqm

Equipped play
MUGA
Built Recreation
TOTAL SQ M

377 sqm
none

Land lost to
road
Policy Compliant
Proposed
1,400 sqm
8717 sq m
9975 sqm +1400
sqm = 11375 sq m
11800 sq m
4788 sq m +1,500
sq m = 6288 sq m
774 sq m + 377 s qm
= 1151 sq m
774 sq m
Off - site provision

11,994 SQ M

Please see Appendix D for the proposed layout of the Open Space.

Page 71

3278 sq m plus
drainage
and
enchancement
1700 sq m
1150 sq m
£59,859
26,645 SQ M

Agenda Item 10
The hill top park will be enclosed by a landscaped belt and the attenuation areas
have not been included within the open space calculations but will provide
biodiversity and ecological interest as habitat areas.
4.16.5 Condition 22 of planning permission 62187 requires:
(22) Prior to the laying out/construction of the areas of public open space
precise details shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This shall include where applicable to that phase:
a) the precise design, position and layout of the LEAP including surface
treatment, play equipment (minimum of 10 pieces), seating, signage and means
of enclosure
b) the precise planting schedule, means of enclosure of the areas, position of
seats, dog bins and signage of informal open space
c) the design of the MUGA including surface treatment, seating, signage and
means of enclosure (if provided on site)
d) the works to upgrade the sports pitch.
The works shall thereafter be carried out as agreed and completed on site in
accordance with the terms of the '‘Construction Phasing Plan’' and terms of the
Section 106 agreement unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority

Reason:
To ensure that the public open space is provided with facilities that will
encourage informal recreational use. To ensure that the design of the LEAP,
including the works of enclosure and surface materials address the
requirements of sports and recreation for the target audience.
The Construction Phasing Plan is also required by condition and gives the Authority
control over when facilities will be provided on site. The s106 also controls delivery
and would allow the Authority to require the early provision of the works within the
existing Park. The MUGA and hill top park would be provided as infrastructure.

4.17 NORTH DEVON AND TORRIDGE LOCAL PLAN
4.17.1 The Council adopted the Torridge and North Devon Local Plan relatively
recently in October 2018. Adoption followed extensive consultation and
engagement with the public and partners over other general policies and
specific land allocations. As part of that process and to ensure that the
plan could be accepted as being sound, the council had to show that
allocated sites were sustainable and were deliverable.
4.17.2 The land owned by the developer, along with further land to the east,
forms part of a strategic housing site allocated within the council’s
adopted Local Plan under BAR01. The adopted allocation policy seeks
to secure a comprehensive a comprehensive, sustainable, high quality,
mixed use development that includes: 950 dwellings, 5 hectares of land
for economic development; a neighbourhood hub to include an

Page 72

Agenda Item 10
additional 420 place primary school, open space and recreation and
sports facilities; a new park and change facility.
4.17.3 Allocation BAR01 states that the transport and connectivity strategy for
the site will provide improvements at the Landkey junction on the A361
and will also provide a vehicular link between the development and
Westacott Road. Pedestrian and cycle links were also envisaged to allow
for sustainable transport choices.
4.17.4 Paragraph 10.17 of the Council’s adopted Local Plan states that the
purpose of the secondary access is to improve links between Whiddon
Valley and the Link Road and alleviate congestion at the Rose Lane
roundabout. It was also to facilitate a new bus route between Landkey
and Whiddon Valley and improve public transport to the centre of
Barnstaple.
4.17.5 The options for a secondary access within the adopted policy included
both the Castle Park Road route referred to earlier and the route through
the open space now under discussion.
4.17.6 The remaining land with BAR01 to the east has a undetermined
application (65448) for 820 homes, and for some of the facilities set out
above including a neighbourhood hub, a smaller quantum of
employment uses, plus open space and infrastructure. The main access
is shown off the A361 at a new roundabout at Landkey.
4.17.7 In order to ensure that his strategic extension is integrated with Whiddon
Valley as required by the adopted policy, a road connection is required
to ensure that a bus facility can be planned as well as comprehensive
footpath and cycleways. This is proposed to be via the secondary access
through the existing park. Without this access the development would
become a cul-de-sac served by a single point of access. The route
through the park will also allow commercial businesses at Whiddon
Valley an emergency route out should the roundabout at Tesco fail.
These were key aspirations of the council through adoption of its local
plan.
4.17.8 When taking the decision, members must therefore consider the impact
on the development and on the wider strategic extension, in particular
on the sustainability of that development if the links to the town centre,
Whiddon Valley etc cannot be created and on the delivery of the
council’s own adopted strategic policies.
4.17.9 Members will be familiar with the issues around the 5 year housing land
supply and the requirement on councils to show a continuous supply of
housing. At the time of the adoption of the Local Plan the council were
able to show that the allocated sites and other sites coming forward
provided that required supply. The council is not currently in that position

Page 73

Agenda Item 10
and is therefore vulnerable to what might be called “hostile” planning
applications. This is because if the council can not show a 5 year
housing land supply, it is considered that many of its strategic policies
set out in the Local Plan are out of date. In that situation, applications
are judged against the national sustainability test and not against our
own locally adopted policies.
4.17.10 If a secondary access is not provided, the outline consent 62187 will
not be implementable until such time as the wider allocation is
developed, simply because there will be no access. That will have an
impact on the councils ability to re-establish a 5 year housing land
supply.
4.18

UPDATE ON WESTACOTT HIF

4.18.1 Members will recall that NDC were successful in securing Housing
infrastructure Fund monies to help deliver the ‘Landkey’ roundabout, which
forms the primary access to BAR 1. The HIF is a loan and not a grant.
Initially NDC were awarded up to £2.6 million towards this scheme. There
were stringent conditions attached to the fund including the need to secure
the repayment mechanism in advance of the draw down of any monies and
to ensure compliance with State Aid (now Subsidy Control).
4.18.2 A contract was entered into between NDC and Homes England (HE) but
Officers were unable to secure the repayment mechanism as the additional
conditions and risk associated with the required contracts were considered
too onerous for all parties.
4.18.3 Instead, officers have negotiated an amended contract with HE, which
secures HIF that matches what Barwood Land would have contributed
towards the provision of the ‘Landkey’ roundabout (£1.55 million). The
repayment mechanism from Barwood land will be an uplift in the provision of
affordable housing secured in the S106 Agreement to the value of that
contribution. The amended contract between HE and NDC is agreed subject
to State Aid/Subsidy Control compliance. There is a draft funding agreement
between NDC and DCC, which would see the transfer of funds from NDC to
DCC to deliver the roundabout and discussions are ongoing between NDC
Planners and Barwood Land to secure the required uplift in affordable
housing.
The first draw down of the HIF monies is currently scheduled for July 2021
4.19 PUBLIC NOTICE
4.19.1 Under s123 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council has the power
to dispose of land held by them but this is limited by subsection (2A) That
the council may not dispose of Open Space unless before disposing of
the land they cause notice of their intention to do so to be advertised in
two consecutive weeks in a newspaper circulating in the area in which

Page 74

Agenda Item 10
the land is situated, and consider any objections to the proposed
disposal which may be made to them.
4.19.2 On the 17th May the Strategy & Resources Committee resolved to
undertake a public consultation to obtain the public’s view of the potential
disposal of the park.
4.19.3 The public consultation has now concluded, the responses of which are
as follows:
4.19.4

93 letters and emails of objections. A spreadsheet detailing the
points raised can be seen in Appendix E.
The reasons for objection include but not limited to:
 Overlooking the park
 Creating a rat run
 Pollution
 Contradiction to Council’s Environmental Policy
 Detrimental to property sale values
 Danger to children walking to school
 Noise of traffic
 Loss of Green Space
 Air pollution
 Destruction of wildlife habitat

4.19.5

A survey was created for the community by the local County
Councillor, please see Appendix F1 & F2.
481 surveys were submitted to the Council.
The survey asked the residents the following 2 questions:
Do you agree with the use of part of Westacott Park as an access
road?
Should the Council sell Westacott Park for an access road and
upgraded play area?
All of the 481 surveys received had the same response which was
NO & NO to the above questions.

4.19.6

1 email of approval stating existing park is tired and limited, gaining
an improved area, MUGA and large space overall is a major positive.

Page 75

Agenda Item 10
4.20 Although 84% of the responses were responses to the standardised
community survey, there is clearly significant opposition to a disposal.
Members should however consider the reasons for opposition put forward
and not simply consider the overall numbers.
4.21 Many of the issues raised by the responses are issues that were taken into
account both as part of the process for allocating the site and identifying this
route as a potential secondary access, and also dealt with as part of the
decision to grant outline consent with a secondary route through the open
space.
4.22 This report also sets out other considerations that need to be taken into
account as part of the decision making process.
4.23 Members have a statutory duty to consider the above responses that
resulted from the public consultation and weigh these against the developers
offer and the planning need as set out in BAR1 of the Local Plan.
4.24 There have been nearly 600 responses, with only 1 in favour, which is strong
opposition to the disposal. 84% of these are responses to a community
survey and not individual contacts with individual stories. The individual
responses reflect concerns on the extra noise and pollution from a new road,
and the loss of the play area and green space. Many of the issues raised by
the consultation responses would have been issues dealt with as part of the
original allocation and the planning application and would therefore have
already been considered by the council is adopting the Local Plan and
approving the application. Responses raining concerns about the loss of
open space need to be balanced against the provision of replacement open
space set out above.

15. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
a. Legal Services - Conveyance
b. Financial Implications – set out above
16. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
An Equalities Assessment has been produced as a result of this report.
17. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
a. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 7.12
b. Referred or delegated power?: N

18. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
a. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information
under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.

Page 76

Agenda Item 10
19. BACKGROUND PAPERS
a. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report: (The background papers are available for inspection and kept by
the author of the report).
20. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all
appropriate Councillors and Officers: Natalie Hayes, Estates Officer

Page 77

This page is intentionally left blank

AgendaAppendix
ItemA10
Appendix A

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
10 B
Appendix
Appendix B

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda
Item 10
Appendix D
Appendix C

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

email
email
email

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

5 19th May 2021
6 20th May 2021
7 20th May 2021

email
email
email

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

8 20th May 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

9 21st May 2021
10 21st May 2021
11 21st May 2021

email
email
email

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

12 21st May 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

13 21st May 2021
14 21st May 2021

email
email

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

15 21st May 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

16 23rd May 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

Reason Use
s
Park

Live
nearby

Overlook
Park

Noise
road

Excess
traffic

x
x

x
x

x

x

x
x
x

Loss play
area

x

x

Page 85

x
x
x

x
x

x

x

x

x
x
x

x
x
x

x

x

x

x
x
x

x
x

x
x

x

Agenda Item 10

DateOut

2 18th May 2021
3 18th May 2021
417:17O4:16
19th May 2021

1 Date In

Object
agree

Appendix D

Email
letter

19 23rd May 2021
20 23rd May 2021
21 24th May 2021

email
letter
email

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

22 25th May 2021

email

7th June 2021 agree

23 27th May 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

x

24 27th May 2021
25 25th May 2021
26 28th May 2021

letter
letter
email

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

x
x

27 30th May 2021
28 31st May 2021

email
email

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

29 31st May 2021
30 2nd June 2021

email
email

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

31 2nd June 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

x

x
x

x

x
x

x

x

x
x

x
x
x
x

x

x
x
x

x
x
x

x
x
x

x

x

x
x

x
x

x

x
x

x

x

Agenda Item 10

7th June 2021 object
7th June 2021 object

Appendix D

email
email

Page 86

17 23rd May 2021
18 23rd May 2021

7th June 2021 object

33 3rd June 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

34 3rd June 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

35 3rd June 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

36 4th June 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

37
38
39
40
41

email
7th June 2021
email
7th June 2021
email/survey
7th June 2021
email/survey
7th June 2021
email/survey
7th June 2021

x

x

x
x

x

x

x

x

object
object
object
object
object

x

x
x

x

x

x

Appendix D

4th June 2021
4th June 2021
4th June 2021
4th June 2021
4th June 2021

x

42 4th June 2021

email

7th June 2021 object

x

43 4th June 2021
44
45

email
survey
survey

7th June 2021 object
object
object

x

x

Agenda Item 10

email

Page 87

32 3rd June 2021

survey

47 4th June 2021

email

8th June 2021 object

48 5th June 2021

email

8th June 2021 object

49 5th June 2021

email

8th June 2021 object

51 5th June 2021

email

8th June 2021 object

x

52 6th June 2021
54 6th June 2021

email
email

8th June 2021 object
8th June 2021 object

x
x

55 6th June 2021
56 7th June 2021

email
email

8th June 2021 object
8th June 2021 object

57 7th June 2021

email

8th June 2021 object

58 7th June 2021

email

8th June 2021 object

Page 88

46

object

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x
x

x

x

x

x

Agenda Item 10

x

x

Appendix D

x

x

email

8th June 2021 object

65 8th June 2021

email

10th June 2021 object

66 9th June 2021

email

10th June 2021 object

x

x

x

67 9th June 2021

email

10th June 2021 object

X

X

x

68 9th June 2021

email

10th June 2021 object

69 9th June 2021

email

10th June 2021 object

70 9th June 2021

email

10th June 2021 object

Page 89

59 30th May 2021

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

Agenda Item 10

Appendix D

x

email

10th June 2021 object

72 10th June 2021
73 3rd June 2021

email
letter

14th June 2021 object
14th June 2021 object

74 10th June 2021

email

14th June 2021

x

x

75 11th June 2021
76 9th June 2021

email
email

14th June 2021 object
14th June 2021 object

x

x

77 14th June

email

14th June 2021 object

x

x

Page 90

71 10th June 2021

x

x

x

x

Agenda Item 10

Appendix D

x

78 11th June 2021

email

14th June 2021 object

x

x

x

79 11th June 2021

email

14th June 2021 object

x

x

80 11th June 2021

email

14th June 2021 object

x

x

x

Page 91
82 11th June 2021
83 11th June 2021

email
email

14th June 2021 object
14th June 2021 object

84 11th June 2021

email

14th June 2021 object

x

x

x
x

x

x

x

Agenda Item 10

email/letter 14th June 2021 object

Appendix D

81 10th June 2021

email

14th June 2021 object

x

86 11th June 2021

email/letter 14th June 2021 object

x

x

87 12th June 2021

email

14th June 2021 object

x

x

x

email
email
email
letter
email
email

14th June 2021 object
14th June 2021 object
14th June 2021 object
object
14th June 2021 object
14th June 2021 object

x
x
x

x
x
x

letter

object

Page 92

85 11th June 2021

88
89
90
91
92
93

14th June
14th June

x
x
x

x

x

Do you agree with the use of part of Westacott Park as an access road?
Should the Council sell Westacott Park for an access road and upgraded play area?

x

x

x
x
x

x

Agenda Item 10

481 surveys returned - all answered no to the two questions posed

x

Appendix D

94

13th June 2021
13th June 2021
13th June 2021

x

No
development Other

danger to children walking to school
air pollution
disruptions to right to privacy

Page 93

danger to children walking to school; air
pollution; destruction of habitat for protected
rare animals, including bats and owls
air pollution
destruction of wildlife habitats
loss of open green space; air pollution; a new
road will alter flow patterns, eliminate natural
habitats. Suggest using Castle Park Road
instead
air pollution; danger to children walking to
school
creating a rat run; air pollution

wildlife and trees affected; creating a rat run

Agenda Item 10

pollution; danger to children walking to school

Appendix D

increased traffic flow and creation of a rat run;
contradiction of the Council's stated
Environment Policy; reduced pedestrian
safety
detrimental to property resale values. Suggest
using Castle Park Road instead
noise pollution

impact on environmental health and safety of
the local community; increased air and noise
polution; creation of a rat run; danger to
children walking to school; decline in wildlife
with the removal of established trees and
bushes
air pollution
contradiction to the Council's Environment
Policy
air pollution
existing park is tired and limited; to gain an
improved area, MUGA and larger space
overall is a major positivve

Page 94

no alternative green space; excess pollution
dangerous and ill thought out proposal.
Suggest using Castle Park Road
Suggest using Castle Park Road
air pollution

Agenda Item 10

danger to lives with families attending the
school; increase in air pollution. Suggest
using other access points

Appendix D

creation of a rat run; changing an existing
public space to just provide an access route
Suggest using other access points
no need for a second access; creation of a rat
run; increasing strain on Orchard Vale
School; air pollution

Suggest using Castle Park Road; air pollution;
no pedestrian safety; no boundary safety
around the proposed sports areas; no
consideration to public safety
Suggest using Castle Park Road; increase in
pollution; decrease in wildlife, trees and
bushes; creation of a rat run
new park would not be accessible for those
with mobility problems

Page 95

creation of a rat run; air pollution; danger to
children, wildlife and pets; proposed new play
area should be placed away from the road
air pollution; creation of a rat run; danger to
children's safety; proposed new play area is
not big enough for a football pitch. Suggest
alternative access route
air pollution; peace and tranquility of the area
will be lost
air pollution; impact on the community

Agenda Item 10

Appendix D

air pollution; damage to environment, wildlife
and community; safety for children and pets
creation of a rat run; impact on value of
current houses

danger to children and the public. Suggest
using Castle Park Road. Loss of peaceful
environment, as well as trees which have a
conservation order; creation of a rat run
park is ideal as it is; creation of a rat run;
danger to children walking to school

Page 96

not enough play spaces for children anyway
Suggest Castle Park Road. Air pollution;
danger to children and other pedestrians
no secondary access, unless it was for
busses and emergency vehicles; creation of a
rat run; increased pollution
creation of a rat run; increased pollution
Suggest using Castle Park Road; increased
air pollution; creation of a rat run; proposed
park size is insufficient

Agenda Item 10

increased traffic congestion; danger to
children crossing a busy road to access the
park; increased pollution; existing wildlife and
bat colony will not be protected;reduction of
park area

Appendix D

increased air pollution; increased noise
pollution; road very close to properties;
proposed MUGA wil not compensate for the
loss of the park

park should be retained and regarded as
being 'owned' by local people; pollution from
traffic
one of the most used parks in Barnstaple;
park has everything, for all ages; reduction of
10% for the road is not true

Page 97

only decent green space for children on a
very busy road; wildlife and trees affected
additional traffic access on an already
strained road, in a residential area; creation of
a rat run
park was built for use by local children and
families; woul cause more congestion and
pollution
would destroy the play park; developers given
alternative access roads
park should be kept as is; looking after what
is already built shuold be more of a priority
than new housing developments

Agenda Item 10

Appendix D

pollution from construction traffic and new
properties; the park is the only 'green area'
we have; proposed new green space will be
too far away from the children and elderly
residents to access; wildlife and birds will be
displaced; suggest a bat survey be
undertaken; the park wil no longer be safe;
our area is well established and works well as
it is; a new housing development should have
its own facilities and access.

pollution from traffic; consider the
Government's Clean Air Strategy 2019; road
will devalue properties; will have an adverse
effect on wildlife and bird habitats; park is the
only green space we have; proposed new
green area is on a hill and too far away to get
to safely
Westacott Road already receives a lot of
heavy traffic; no traffic calming measures n
place to prevent accident; road to new
development should be via a roundabout at
Landkey junction; bus lane through Castle
Park Road; reductin in green space

Page 98

air pollution increased; environmental impact;
disturbance to wildlife and community space

Agenda Item 10

Appendix D

Proposed new park location is not acceptable
to the elderly; children would be further from
the security of their own homes; pollution
from increased traffic - consider
Government's Air Pollution commitment;
creation of a traffic rat run; suggestion
alternative access routes
suggest alternative route
increase traffic on the road to the play area,
making it unsafe for children; already little in
the way of green public space

taking away the safe place for children to
play, it is a vital space for residents physical
and mental wellbeing; loss of wildlife habitat
additional traffic detrimental to those that live
nearby, adding noise, pollution and potential
added danger
removal of the play equipment would be
disgusting to the memory of the late
Councillor Dave Butt; increase in air pollution;
suggest using another option for an access
road; would create a rat run with increased
volumes of traffic

Page 99

air quality - refer to the Council's Air Quality
Improvement document; already have written
assurance to the community that no part of
Westacott Park would be sold; Highways
Authority have recorded that there is no need
to sell any part of the park, suggest an
alternative access.

Agenda Item 10

We have already been assured that the park
would not be sold; excess traffic used as a rat
run; suggest an alternative access route

Appendix D

moving the park facility is not acceptable as
elderly residents may not be able to travel the
xtra distance; park is our only green space;
take note of Air Pollution reduction
commitments; suggest alternative access
route

park is used by all ages, the local school and
other groups; an access road would be
dangerous; our only open space
need the space to play and be healthy where
there is no pollution
create a rat run; destroy the harmony of the
local estate; extra noise, traffic and pollution
would be detrimental to everyone's wellbeing

Page 100

vital green space, at the heart of the
community; provides a safe place for all;
increase in traffic could lead to accidents,
especiailly with children going to and from
school; no other green space for children to
play safely
create more pollution

Agenda Item 10

No
No

Appendix D

environmental habitat for wildlife
increased engine noise, pollution; safety of children
rare green space to play would be much
reduced; lack of regard for public safety;
proposed access road cuts through a Devon
bank with wildlife and history

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

Page 101

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Appendix F

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12

North Devon Council
Report Date: 5 July 2021
Topic: Houses In Multiple Occupation: Amenity Standards, Minimum Room Sizing
and Licence Conditions
Report by: Public Protection Manager and Graduate Environmental Health Officer
1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1. North Devon Council is responsible for the licensing of Houses in Multiple
Occupation (HMOs) in the district. This includes all homes with five or more
occupants from two or more households, who share amenities and facilities.
There are an estimated 1,100 HMOs in North Devon, of which approximately
290 fall under the Part 2 mandatory licensing scheme1.
1.2. The legislation surrounding HMOs allows the Council to impose licence
conditions and locally adopted standards on amenities within properties. The
current conditions and amenity standards adopted are from a Devon Wide
document published in 2011.
1.3. The purpose of this report is to feedback on the results of a six week
consultation exercise on a set of updated licence conditions, amenity standards
and room sizes under the new HMO licensing regime, and to seek approval for
their implementation.
2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the Strategy and Resources Committee:

3.

2.1.1.1.

Consider the feedback on the results of the public consultation
exercise, contained within Appendix A.

2.1.1.2.

Adopt the draft Amenity Standards and Minimum Room Sizing
requirements in Appendix B.

2.1.1.3.

Adopt the proposed Licence Conditions in Appendix C.

2.1.1.4.

Adopt a continued licence period of five years for HMOs.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1. To consider feedback on the results of the consultation exercise and make any
amendments to the draft documents consulted upon.

1

BRE Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling and Database for North Devon Council Report, May 2019

Page 105

Agenda Item 12
3.2. To implement a new set of amenity standards and minimum room sizes specific
to the housing market within North Devon.
3.3. To ensure the protection of safety and wellbeing of residents and vulnerable
persons who reside in HMOs.
3.4. The current standards are not up to date and in line with the most current
legislation.
3.5. Recommendations pertaining to radon gas, lead in drinking water,
sustainability/energy efficiency and washing/drying facilities have been included
in the amenity standards document. These are all areas which have not been
addressed in previous amenity standards documents.
3.6. The new licensing regime aims to incorporate additional sustainability
measures in line with the Government’s targets to reduce all greenhouse gas
emissions to net zero by 2050, and also the Council’s Carbon Reduction Plans.
3.7. The addition of energy efficiency recommendations will also help to address
fuel poverty in North Devon by making homes more fuel efficient, and in turn
reducing fuel bills.
4.

REPORT

4.1. The Council currently has 43 licensed HMOs across the district.
4.2. The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description)
(England) Order 2018 removed the original three-storey rule for HMOs set out
under the Housing Act 2004. Both nationally and locally, this has resulted in an
increase in the number of properties which now fall under the mandatory
licensing scope for Part 2 HMO licences. It is estimated that there are around
250 additional HMOs in North Devon which now fall under the new licensing
regime1. These are all properties which are yet to be licensed by the Council
and would be impacted by the proposed new HMO licensing regime.
4.3. Schedule 4 of the Housing Act outlines the conditions local authorities must
impose on licence holders as part of this process. Whilst Section 67 of the Act
allows local housing authorities to impose additional conditions on properties
which fall under the scope of mandatory licensing. The current licence
conditions used by the Council were last updated in 2011, and solely relate to
those conditions imposed under Schedule 4 of the Act. They do not take into
account conditions which could be set under S67, for example those relating to
mitigating anti-social behaviour. Such conditions would be beneficial in a
number of licensed properties in the district, especially those with high numbers
of anti-social behaviour related complaints associated with them. A summary of
the proposed conditions are contained in Appendix C.
4.4. Mandatory licensable properties have a set of prescriptive standards Council’s
must apply when setting the number of occupants permitted in a property.

Page 106

Agenda Item 12
These are national minimum standards relating to personal washing facilities
and sanitary conveniences etc. Section 65 (2) of the Housing Act 2004 gives
the local housing authority power to set higher standards over and above the
prescribed standards set by legislation. These standards can be set to reflect
local housing conditions providing they do not fall below national standards.
4.5. It is proposed to implement a new set of amenity standards and minimum room
sizes specific to North Devon, to reflect the changes in legislation and the local
housing market within the last decade. A summary of the proposed standards
are contained in a document in Appendix B.
4.6. Following the adoption of the proposed licence conditions, amenity standards
and minimum room sizing, all new licences issued will be subject to the
updated conditions and standards. A licence holder’s failure to comply with the
new conditions and standards will result in a breach of licence conditions.
4.7. The licensing review process aims to improve housing standards, and reduce
the high number of Category 1 and 2 hazards in the licensable community.
Refining the standards in HMOs would also improve public health and
wellbeing. For example, the draft plan outlines areas which are of a particular
public health concern in North Devon. This includes advice pertaining to radon
gas and lead in drinking water, and gives recommendations to licence holders
on how to mitigate the impacts of these hazards in their property.
4.8. Moreover, the new licensing regime aims to incorporate additional sustainability
measures in line with the Government’s targets to reduce all greenhouse gas
emissions to net zero by 2050, and also the Council’s Carbon Reduction Plans.

Consultation
4.9. A six week consultation period ran in respect of the proposed revisions,
between 25 April 2021 and 6 June 2021. This was undertaken with key
stakeholders including estate agents, management companies and landlords of
HMOs.
4.10. Five individuals (including a response from Ilfracombe Town Council)
completed the consultation questions that were posed. These are attached at
Appendix A.
4.11. For the most part the responses were broadly positive. It was good to note that
the room size requirements were welcomed, and there were comments from an
individual with experience of having lived in rooms having failed to meet these
requirements, particularly when personal space was confined to one room. This
particular individual cited he was gratified to read that there were separate
specifications proposed for bedsits where sleeping and kitchen/living rooms are
combined.

Page 107

Agenda Item 12
4.12. Ilfracombe Town Council welcomed the specification of room sizes and
recognised that for many people inhabiting HMO's they have limited personal
space. They cited that it is important to be mindful of the unique configuration of
Victorian buildings (some in conservation areas or listed) and their conversion,
which has left some with unusual room divisions. It was cited that bathrooms
can be more than two storeys away from bedrooms, and there was recognition
that houses may have restrictions around changing the internal layout. They
have suggested that guidance will be needed to ensure that these minimum
room sizes can be achieved.
4.13. One individual commended the configuration of the documentation, in how it
gives clear instruction, backed up by the health and safety reasons as to why
areas are important.
4.14. It was acknowledged that fixed and controllable heating is important in
mitigating the health effects of cold and damp, and the feedback cited that the
individual was glad to see this recognised. The feedback of one responder’s
experience was that many sub-standard HMO's are absolutely freezing, which
leads occupants taking risks with unsuitable electric heaters. There was
recognition that other maintenance issues (lack of double glazing, draughts,
lack of insulation etc.) contribute to cold rooms and occupants of HMOs were
known to have controllable heating but that could not afford to put it on due to
heat escape through single glazing, ill-fitting doors etc.
4.15. One of those making feedback, cited that it was excellent to set out minimum
requirements per resident in terms of food storage, equipment and preparation.
4.16. The introduction of improved energy efficiency was also welcomed by one
individual, who stated actions taken by landlords would improve tenant health
and wellbeing, and also benefit tenants through reduced energy costs.
4.17. All five respondents cited they would be incentivised to adhere to the
recommended standards should there be a financial incentive for doing so. This
is something which will be discussed and looked into in the future following the
completion of this work.
4.18. One respondent cited that it would be of benefit to provide guidance to
landlords on anti-social behaviour (ASB) related matters. A commitment will be
made to produce guidance on the Council’s website pertaining to the
management of ASB issues, as it is acknowledged that is not currently
available and this would be advantageous.
4.19. A number of key themes did exist in terms of the consultation feedback. The
main points provided in the feedback have been addressed below.

4.20. Capacity for Licence

Page 108

Agenda Item 12
Confusion surrounding the number of persons residing in a HMO before a
licence is required.
We believe there may be an element of confusion pertaining to the introduction
of a discretionary licensing regime in certain local authority areas. There are no
current proposals to bring in discretionary licensing at this point in time, albeit
this is a future aspiration of the Council.
4.21. Collaboration
Support for a collaborative enforcement approach with other statutory
agencies, e.g. working with police on ASB.
Suggestion that fire safety, smoke, and carbon monoxide requirements
fall under the jurisdiction of the fire authority.
Support for a set of guidelines about the steps needed to tackle ASB for
landlords.
Improved collaboration with Planning and Development Services. A
suggestion for a more detailed assessment of any planning applications
and a more robust analysis of any property/ planning proposals by
potential landlords to ensure that properties serve the benefit of our own
community.
We have adopted a collaborative approach and inspect properties on a multiagency basis. We have recently worked with the Police and Fire Authority in
partnership, and this is a well-established relationship across EHHS.
The Fire Reform Order and associated legislation sets out which authority (LA
or Fire Authority) is appropriate to be the enforcing authority in prescribed
circumstances.
Consideration will be made to produce guidance on the Council’s website
pertaining to the management of ASB issues specific to landlords, as it is
acknowledged that is not currently available.
4.22. Pre-application Advisory Service
Suggested development of an advisory service/pre-application advice to
improve working relationships between HMO landlords and the District
Council.
This is a valued area of suggestion, and one for which further exploration will
be made upon completion of this area of work.

Page 109

Agenda Item 12
4.23. Robust Enforcement
Persistently poor landlords and those who fail to gain a licence should be
subject to strict enforcement and penalties.
Clear message that landlords who fail to seek a licence or repeatedly fail
to act on advice will be subject to action.
Publication of successful prosecutions.
Need for appropriate level of resources to enforce compliance, otherwise
NDC will fail to achieve improvements.

There is strategy pertaining to those who fail to meet minimum standards, but
following comments there will be a further review of this area of work, and
improved information will be provided in terms of the sanctions available on the
Council’s website.
A review of resources available and required to meet future demands of the
HMO licensing services is being undertaken currently.
4.24. Frequency of Inspection
Suggestion to make a ‘fitness for human habitation annual report’
mandatory.
Regular monitoring of HMO's is essential.
A view that inspections should be more regular than every 5 years.
The Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 2018 does exist to regulate all
privately let accommodation in the UK. The standards relating to HMOs will be
higher in many respects, and therefore an annual report in terms of this
legislation would not necessarily be appropriate.
Moreover, specific powers exist to regulate HMOs by way of Civil Sanction (e.g.
Housing Act 2004 S249A, Housing and Planning Act 2016, S42).
The Council hold a Private Sector Housing Civil Penalty Enforcement Policy.
This is not currently housed on the Council’s website, and this action is being
undertaken as part of this HMO review.
Current resources and licence fees adopted do not currently permit additional
inspections, however this can be re-examined as the project moves forward, as
fees can be reviewed.

Page 110

Agenda Item 12
4.25. Waste Storage
Concerns with regard to waste collections not being frequent enough for
larger households.
Concerns about storage of waste in bedrooms and in communal areas,
hallways etc. and external space to house recycling receptacles.
NDC documentation cites adequate internal or external non-habitable
space must be provided, but concern how this will be achieved if no
actual space is available inside or outside the property.
Productive for the Council to work proactively with HMO landlords to
achieve the standards set out.
It is acknowledged that this is a difficult area in terms of enforcement,
particularly where properties are already converted to HMOs and there is
limited external/internal space to accommodate bins.
A policy of a two weekly collection has been approved and initiated across the
district for some time. It is unlikely that this will be amended.
Additional bins and recycling bins can be requested for larger households to
manage waste between collection dates. A policy exists in terms of gaining
extra receptacles. This is based upon the numbers residing in a property (6 or
more adults or 5 adults with children in nappies).
Unfortunately if internal layout does not permit adequate space for waste
receptacles, then a decision may need to be taken to reduce the number of
occupants (e.g. use a room as a waste storage room), to avoid risks associated
with waste storage in communal areas or fire egress routes. Each case will
need to be carefully judged on its merits.
4.26. Shower Facilities
Query over the permissibility of a shower where installed in a bedroom. If
permissible there is a query over whether this arrangement utilises space
from the minimum size of the sleeping accommodation required.
Concerns over the ventilation of showers in bedrooms, and risks
associated with moisture dispersing into the room.
Suggestion that an advisory service should be able to suggest suitable
fixed heating sources in bathrooms, as high risk examples had been
noted by one individual.
Clarification pertaining to sanitary accommodation within a bedroom has been
provided on page 12 of the Amenity, Minimum Room Sizing and Management
Standards Document (Appendix B). The document has been amended to

Page 111

Agenda Item 12
reflect that an assessment will be made on a case by case basis in instances
such as that described.
A decision to make an assessment on a case by case basis, is based upon the
fact that this is an area currently unknown. Data does not exist in terms of the
number of showers in bedrooms, and their size. Shower sizes can vary
substantially.
Showers that are inadequately ventilated and causing an issue surrounding
damp and mould will be assessed under the HHSRS and actioned accordingly.
An advisory service will be explored further following the completion of this area
of work.
4.27. Washing and Drying of Clothing
Concern was raised in respect of the lack of mention of areas to wash and
dry clothing. It was cited that residents do not always have access to a
laundrette (or cannot afford one), and so they often try to wash or dry
clothes in their room which contributes to damp and condensation
issues.
The provision of a washing machine and tumble dryer (or if possible
outside drying space) were also cited to be welcomed additions if
possible.
This is a welcome suggestion, and the addition of recommended standards
pertaining to clothes washing and drying facilities has been added to the
Amenity, Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document
(Appendix B) under the ‘Miscellaneous recommendations’ section on page 19.
4.28. Energy/Sustainability
Suggestion to work in partnership with an agency such as 361 Energy to
help assist landlords with energy saving measures, home visits and grant
applications.
The idea of a partnership with 361 Energy is something which will be
considered following further exploration.
4.29. Incentive Scheme
An incentive scheme for improvements which are recommended but not
desirable was welcomed, but one applicant also raised the idea of a
Council accreditation scheme for competent landlords to validate good
landlords.
Reducing the licence fee is one good idea but another might be enabling
access to grants or loans to make some improvements.

Page 112

Agenda Item 12

A suggestion was made that a smaller licence fee could be implemented
for appropriate for those properties for which the EPC is a band C or
above.
It is useful to understand that an incentive scheme would be welcomed, and
whilst it is not something which will be encompassed as part of this report,
these form useful suggestions for the work which will follow.
The introduction of reduced licence fees and an accreditation scheme are both
ideas which will be considered once the whole licensable community has been
adequately licensed.

5.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

5.1. Resource requirements for the processing of the consultation and amendments
to documentation etc., will be covered within existing staffing resources.
6.

EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT

6.1. There are two positive implications (relating to the age and disability
characteristics) as a result of this report. The remaining characteristics are
anticipated to be neutrally impacted. Please see the corresponding Equality
Impact Assessment for further details.
7.

CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT

7.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 (1) (h)
7.2. Referred or delegated power?: Delegated
8.

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY

8.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
9.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

9.1. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
•

BRE, May 2019, BRE Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling and Database
for North Devon Council Report

•

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, April 2020, Subregional Fuel Poverty in England, 2020 (2018 data)

•

Housing Act 2004

Page 113

Agenda Item 12
•

The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of
Licences) England Regulations 2018

•

The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Description)
(England) Order 2018

•

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006

•

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2012

10. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
10.1. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers.
Authors: Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager and Tanisha Rowswell, Graduate
Environmental Health Officer
Date: 7 June 2021

Page 114

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

Houses in Multiple Occupation Standardisation Consultation
Ran from 25 April 2021 to 6 June 2021.
Five people completed the consultation.
Q1
Names and addresses removed for data protection purposes.
Q2
Names and addresses removed for data protection purposes.
Q3
Please specify your client group (select all
that apply)
Member of the Public;
Community adviser. Civil society researcher;
Tenant;
Parish Council;
Citizen;
Q4
Section 67 of the Housing Act 2004, allows local housing authorities to impose
additional conditions on properties which fall under the scope of mandatory licensing.
As part of the new licensing regime, we are proposing and updated set of licence
conditions. These build on previous mandatory conditions published in 2011, but
also include additional conditions relating to areas such as anti-social behaviour,
waste disposal, electrical safety, smoke and carbon monoxide, energy efficiency,
food safety, property maintenance and general maintenance.
Please see the corresponding document, 2021 North Devon Council HMO
Standards pdf, for further details on the proposals.
Please provide any positive or negative implications you perceive as part of the
proposals:
(a) I fully welcome this comprehensive set of proposals whose intention is to improve
living conditions in HMO's which in my experience in Ilfracombe, have long been
substandard in many cases and for many years.
On a general level I am pleased to see that the LA are proposing to update on the
key areas of 'heating', 'washing facilities and WC's' , 'food preparation and storage',
'space' and 'waste disposal'. In my experience as someone who has lived next to a
substandard HMO, it is imperative to have detailed guidelines about these minimum
living standards which landlords and managers/license holders will have to follow.

Page 115

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
If I could comment generally I would say that the difficulty you will face will be over
the enforcement of these standards. Historically this has been a problem with the
standards we have now, but increasing the level of conditions to be met (which I
absolutely support) will bring extra pressure on a department already running on
empty due to sustained LA cuts and the lack of qualified staff.
One thing I would wish to add is that the LA has the ability to ensure that landlords
whose HMO's require a licence, ensure that they seek one. Achieving these
standards is a fantastic objective for those properties whose landlords are
responsible license holders, but we have a section of HMO's in Ilfracombe whom we
know should be operating under a licence, but who fail to seek one. Without the
legality of a licence all sorts of inadequate conditions will be operating outside of the
jurisdiction of North Devon Council. In short you require a strengthened licence
enforcement team.
(b) I agree.
(c) Waste disposal needs to be looked at.
(d) Ilfracombe Town Council are broadly supportive of attempts to improve living
standards in Houses of Multiple Occupation. Ilfracombe has experienced a
substantial increase in this type of accommodation over recent times due in no part
to the large Victorian buildings that lend themselves to multi-let conversion. Some of
these are well maintained and well run, but others unfortunately have not achieved
these standards.
(e) What I have found very confusing in other boroughs where licensing exists is the
number of people allowed in a flat.
It should be made very clear if you need a license how many people are allowed in
the flat. Some 2 bed flats for example in some boroughs you are allowed 2 people
without a license, but you need one for 3. Whatever the route making it simple and
clear is the most important.
There is already fitness for human habitation act in place so there are the powers out
there to fine landlords and bring them into account. Maybe a better option is to make
a fitness for human habitation annual report mandatory?

Q5
Please provide any recommendations you believe would add value to the above
proposals:
(a) I would welcome a collaborative approach with other statutory agencies to
achieve the enforcement of these minimum standards. For example it would be in
the interests of tenants and landlords if both fire safety and smoke and carbon
monoxide requirements were under the mandatory jurisdiction of the Fire Service. In
this example I believe that inspection should be more than every 5 years. Similarly I
would welcome collaboration with police on tackling anti-social behaviour and
actually I feel that a set of guidelines about the steps needed to tackle such

Page 116

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
behaviour would be a welcome addition for landlords. In respect of waste and
recycling I believe that it would be productive for the respective LA department to
work proactively with HMO landlords to achieve the standards set out. In fact I
believe that the best way to achieve the outcomes proposed (i.e. far more habitable
homes) is to develop an advisory service which can work proactively with HMO
licence holders to achieve better outcomes. It would be a service where advice can
be sought and a light touch visit from the inspection team can go through all of the
potential issues and give guidance on how problems can be solved. By using
partner agencies and encouraging landlords to make use of this service to avoid
future enforcement, I believe that standards can be improved and good relationships
established with reputable HMO license holders.
(b) None at present
(c) Weekly collection as two collection is to long for 7 people
(d) It would be helpful if there could be established an advisory initiative whereby
landlords could request informal visits to ensure help in achieving the inspection
standards. Specific guidance or direct support will be likely to yield positive results
and a good working relationship between HMO landlords and the District Council.
Persistently poor landlords and those who fail to seek a licence should however be
subject to strict enforcement and the penalties that follow.
(e) It should be made very clear if you need a license how many people are allowed
in the flat. Some 2 bed flats for example in some boroughs you are allowed 2 people
without a license, but you need one for 3. Whatever the route making it simple and
clear is the most important.

Q6
Amenity Standards and Minimum Room Sizing
Prescribed standards
It is proposed licence holders will adhere to a set of new Amenity Standards. This
document will include mandatory conditions prescribed in statue relating to heating,
personal washing facilities and kitchen facilities.
This includes standards set out under The Licensing and Management of Houses in
Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England)
Regulations 2006. Regulation 8 and Schedule 3 (2) as amended by the Licensing
and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England)
Regulations 2007. Additionally, the document includes national minimum room sizes
and waste disposal requirements as set out under The Licensing of Houses in
Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) Regulations
2018.
The minimum room sizes are those recommended under the above legislation:
• 6.51m2 – 1 person over 10 years
• 10.22m2 – 2 people over 10 years
• 4.64m2 – child under 10 years

Page 117

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
The waste disposal provisions include compliance with our waste storage and
disposal requirements. Provide any positive or negative implications you perceive as
part of the proposals:
(a) The room size requirements are welcome. Having experience of rooms in HMO's
which have failed to meet these requirements, I know how important it is to have
enough space to live comfortably, especially if your own personal space is confined
to one room. I was gratified to read that there is separate specification for bedsits
where sleeping and kitchen/living room are combined. I have experience of
bedrooms where a shower facility has been installed. Is this a consideration in terms
of minimum space as this does eat up a considerable part of a small room used as
sleeping accommodation?
Waste disposal is a huge issue in HMO's currently. My comments would be that
persons converting property into an HMO have very little regard for this issue in
planning their rental business. People living in bedsits rather than a room in a
shared HMO, have absolutely no space for a food caddy and recycling boxes and
bags. They simply cannot store them in their rooms and in my experience, landlords
do not make available any suitable communal area to store waste in the communal
building. Hallways are NOT acceptable areas for this use. Of course many HMO's
comprised of bedsits have no outside space available to residents so quite where
these shared waste receptacles might be located is a problem. In HMO's with
shared facilities such as kitchens and where rooms are for sleeping/living it is totally
unacceptable for there to be no communal designated space to store shared
recycling. It is mentioned in your accompanying document that adequate internal or
external non-habitable space must be provided but I'm unsure how this will be
achieved if no actual space is available inside or outside the property. This is a good
example of where an advisory service would assist, especially for those people
considering setting up as an HMO licensed landlord.
(b) What ever happened to Parker-Morris standards for housing our people? I
welcome any efforts to improve the private rental housing stock, but I fear that,
unless there is a political will, and also the resources (£ and personnel) to enforce
compliance, we will fail to achieve improvements. Serious, regular monitoring of
HMO's is essential.
(c) 4 of the flats here have their toilet and bath rooms outside they flats
(d) Ilfracombe Town Council welcomes the specification of room sizes and
recognises that for many people inhabiting HMO's they have limited personal space.
It is important to be mindful once again of the unique configuration of Victorian
buildings and their conversion which has left some with unusual divisions into rooms
and guidance will be needed to ensure that these minimum room sizes can be
achieved.
(e) What you have to remember is people have less ‘stuff’ these days. Less cds,
dvds, books etc. Smaller / cheaper does not necessarily mean worse.

Page 118

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
Q7
Locally adopted standards

Section 65 (2) of the Housing Act 2004 gives the local housing authority power
to set higher standards over and above the prescribed standards set by
legislation. We propose to implement a set of locally adopted standards for
heating, personal washing facilities, kitchen facilities and waste disposal. This
includes:
- Heating: introducing fixed heating sources, occupier control heating, heating
in bathrooms, and heating capable of maintaining a minimum temperature of
21°C when the temperature outside is below 0°C.
- Personal washing facilities: ensuring bathrooms are of an appropriate layout,
and not more than two-storeys away from bedrooms, have mechanical
ventilation, and a sufficient heating source.
- Kitchen facilities: a set number of appliances and equipment depending on
the number of occupiers (ovens, fridge-freezers, sinks and drainers, worktops,
electrical sockets, storage units, ventilation, fire blankets and fire doors).
There are two different sets of standards for shared housing and bedsit
accommodation.
- Waste disposal: the requirement for the licence-holder to provide tenants
with the appropriate external and internal waste storage facilities.
Further details on the proposals and justifications for the locally adopted
standards can be found in the corresponding document, 2021 North Devon
Council HMO Standards pdf linked.
Please provide any positive or negative implications you perceive as part of
the proposals:
(a) These enhanced standards are really welcome and I like the way that they give
very clear guidance and the health and safety reasons why these are important.
Fixed and controllable heating is so, so important. In my experience many
substandard HMO's are absolutely freezing and this leads occupants to take risks
with unsuitable electrical heaters. Of course other maintenance issues (lack of
double glazing, draughts, lack of insulation etc) contribute to cold rooms and I know
of occupants of HMO's who have controllable heating but cannot afford to put it on
as all of the heat escapes through single pane windows or ill-fitting doors. Good
heating mitigates the health affects of cold and damp so I'm glad to see this
recognised.
Personal washing facilities - I've experienced in the HMO next to me, that showers
were in rooms but without adequate ventilation in the room. These are not
bathrooms but sleeping rooms and as such all of the moisture disperses into the
room. I am not sure of the legality of showers in rooms but would just note that I am
not sure that your proposals cover this, in ensuring that mechanical ventilation is
required to extract moisture from these living areas. Once again an advisory service
should be able to suggest what are suitable fixed heating sources in bathrooms as
I've seen some pretty scary examples recently.

Page 119

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A

I think that it is excellent to set out minimum requirements per resident in terms of
food storage, equipment and preparation and advice about where they should be
placed. In my experience of HMO's however, residents had no area or facility to
wash and dry clothes and this is not mentioned in your document. Residents do not
always have access to a laundrette (or cannot afford one) and so they often try to
wash or dry clothes in their room which is so dangerous to health due to contributing
to damp and condensation.
Please refer to comments made in respect of question 7 in regard to waste disposal.

(b) All well and good. But unless we have robust monitoring, and adequate staffing
to inspect, we will be failing.
(c) It's great news but having only a gas fire and a fan heater in my bath room I can
see many landlords selling up as the cost can be out on the tenant and as my
building is listed again more problems
(d) The introduction of minimum living standards in HMO's is welcome, particularly
as many in Ilfracombe fall far short. To note, however, that many existing HMO's in
Ilfracombe are in Victorian buildings and the conversions are often far from ideal.
Some of these buildings do have conservation status or are even listed. This will
pose particular problems in respect of achieving some of the recommended
standards. For example, bathrooms not more than two stories away from bedrooms
in houses that have restrictions around changing the internal layout.
(e) Fine
Q8

Please provide any recommendations you believe would add value to the
above proposals:
(a) I'm not sure how efforts could be made by landlords in respect of clothes
washing and drying facilities, but the provision of a washing machine and tumble
dryer (or if possible outside drying space) would be welcome.
(b) Detailed assessment of any planning applications (District Council HR/staffing
resources required). A more robust analysis of any property/ planning proposals by
'rentiers', to ensure that properties serve the benefit of our own community.
(c) Not sure what to say

(d) Please refer to comments for Question 6 in relation to waste disposal.
It would be beneficial to have an advisory service for current landlords who will be
expected to achieve the proposed standards or for new landlords hoping to provide
HMO accommodation. Advisory visits by officers may well lead to the conclusion
that there will have to be some flexibility in achieving some of the recommendations

Page 120

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
but advisory assistance can be given on how to achieve the best outcomes for
residents living standards in line with these proposals.
It would be advisable to ensure partnership working with agencies such as 361
Energy in order to ensure that heating in HMO accommodation can meet the
standards set. Also 361 Energy would be able to assist landlords with energy saving
measures or even with grant applications available to improve heat
conservation/insulation.
(e) Done
Q9

Recommended standards
As part of the licensing review, a miscellaneous recommendations section is
included within the Amenity Standards document. These standards are not
prescribed in statue or locally set, instead they are areas landlords are
recommended to look at implementing for best practice. They aim to
improve the property for both landlords and tenants, and are a way of helping
landlords to slowly improve their property over the coming years. They will not
routinely form a part of the licence conditions, so there are no implications for
not complying. However, in the future the Council will consider providing a
financial incentive if the licence holder complies with recommended standards.
The recommended standards include:
- Stricter minimum room sizes, in line with the current affordable housing
national minimum room sizes.
- Improving a properties energy efficiency to EPC band C.
- Reducing the incidence of lead in drinking water, by encouraging landlords to
check pipework and have pipes replaced if required.
- Mitigating high radon levels, by encouraging landlords to check whether their
property is situated in a radon prone area, especially if the property has
subterranean levels.
Similarly to the locally adopted standards, further details on the proposals and
justifications for the recommended standards can be found in the
corresponding document. This document also provides more information on
these four areas should you wish to look into them in greater depth.
Please provide any positive or negative implications you perceive as part of
the proposals:
(a) Increasing energy efficiency is very important. Actions which landlords can take
to increase energy efficiency will benefit tenants enormously in terms of keeping
warm and well (and reduce energy costs). I have already commented on room size
in a previous answer.
(b) I will await reporting on progress, and costings.
(c) To do any major work like that we all have to move out and to where

Page 121

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
(d) The introduction of any standards to improve living conditions is welcome,
however the balance should not be prohibitive and it would be beneficial to find ways
to help good landlords achieve these additional requirements without costs which
may prove a deterrent
(e) You have to detail how a landlord be able to undertake these checks. The more
confusing you make it the more annoying it is for all.
Q10

Please provide any recommendations you believe would add value to the
above proposals:
(a) It would be great to partnership with 361 energy as part of an advisory team that
HMO landlords could draw on as part of their commitment to energy efficiency.
Home visits to point out to landlords as to where they could make improvements and
also where they might be able to draw down grants and loans to help. I wonder if an
incentive could be initiated specifically targeted at HMO's and energy efficiency? By
making improvements such as double glazing, landlords could receive the reduced
licence fee as suggested in your next question.

(b) Robust monitoring - and prosecutions of landlords who break the rules. Name
and shame. They are criminals who put peoples' lives and wellbeing at risk.
(c) I don't know the old stock is hard to bring up to today's standard
(d) An incentive scheme is a great idea, especially for additional improvements
which are desirable but not essential. It would be good to have some form of
accreditation from the District Council which acts as a recommendation and which
validates the efforts made by good landlords.
(e) As above
Q11

Would you be incentivised to adhere to the recommended standards, if there
was a financial incentive to do so? (E.g. reduced licence renewal cost).
(a) Yes
(b) Yes
(c) Yes
(d) Yes
(e) Yes
Q12
If you answered 'yes' please give us any comments you have on an incentive
scheme:

Page 122

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
(a) I really think that a scheme of encouragement and partnership will work well with
responsible landlords of HMO's BUT its important to dis-incentivise bad landlords
and to make sure that there is a clear message that landlords who fail to seek a
licence or who repeatedly fail to act on advice and guidance will be subject to action.
It is important to publicise any of these recommendations that are passed and to
publicise successful prosecutions of landlords who fail to uphold decent living
standards.
(b) Not a landlord but sure mine would
(c) An incentive scheme would have to offer real benefit for the landlord. Reducing
the licence fee is one good idea but another might be enabling access to grants or
loans to make some improvements.
(d) Maybe say smaller license fee if the EPC is a band C or above?

Page 123

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

Amenity, Minimum Room Sizing and
Management Standards Document
Standards Applicable to all Licensable Part 2
HMOs – Revised June 2021

Introduction
This document sets out the amenity standards, minimum room sizing and
management standards for landlords, licence holders and managers
operating licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in North Devon.
Please note these are minimum standards, and it is expected properties will
meet or exceed these requirements.
If the standards outlined in this document are not reasonably practicable
based on the age and layout of your property, please contact us and we will
discuss alternative options with you.
What is an HMO?
The Housing Act 2004 defines a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) as a
building or part of a building (e.g. a flat) which:




Two or more households occupy, and share one or more basic amenity
(toilet, bathroom, cooking facilities).
Is a converted building not entirely comprising of self-contained flats.
Is converted into self-contained flats, but the conversion does not
comply with the Building Regulations 1991, and less than 2/3 of the
flats are owner occupied.

An HMO could be:






A house split into separate bedsits,
A shared house or flat, where the sharers are not members of the
same family,
A hostel,
A bed-and-breakfast hotel that is not just for holidays, or,
Shared accommodation for students.

What is a household defined as?
A household is defined as persons who are all members of the same family
(that are related to one another as a couple, parent, grandparent, child,
grandchild, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece or cousin. Stepchildren and half
blood relatives are also included).

Page 125

1

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
The property must also be used as the tenants' only or main residence, and
used solely or mainly to house tenants.
Mandatory licensing of HMOs
From April 2018, all HMOs with five or more occupants from two or more
separate households, who share a bathroom, toilet or kitchen are required to
be mandatorily licenced by law. The introduction of this legislation removed
the three-storey rule, meaning all properties which are less than three-storeys,
and meet the above criteria, are now required to be licensed as Part 2 HMOs
by the Council.
The new legislation also includes the implementation of national minimum
sleeping room sizes and waste disposal provision requirements.
A Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) assessment will be
carried out by an officer at the Council within 5 years of a property obtaining
an HMO licence. The assessment highlights any deficiencies or hazards in a
property and scores them according to their likelihood of risk. If a deficiency
corresponds to a Category 1 or 2 hazard, action will be required to remove the
risk.
Exemptions to HMO licensing


A property with 2 persons forming 2 households,



An owner occupied property with 2 lodgers,



Buildings controlled by:
o
o
o
o
o

Public bodies,
Registered social landlords,
Educational establishments,
Religious establishments, and
Buildings provided for specific use and covered by defined
legislation (e.g. prisons, children’s homes, immigration centres
etc.).

Planning permission
If you have any queries relating to planning permission or building
classifications please contact the planning department who will assist you with
your queries.
Further information
Further information in relation to HMOs, including information pertaining
specifically to landlords of HMOs and tenants living in HMOs can be found on
our website.

Page 126

2

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Heating
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3
Applies to: Bedrooms and bedsits, and bathrooms.
Prescribed standards:


Each unit of living accommodation in an HMO must be equipped with
adequate means of space heating, and kept in proper working order.

Locally agreed standards:


The heating is capable of maintaining an internal temperature of 21°C
when the outside temperature is -1°C;



The heating is capable of being controlled by the occupier;



Heating should be suitable and permanently fixed;



Each shower or bathroom should have a heating appliance.

Justification:


Adverse health impacts are known to begin after the internal
temperature of the house falls below 19°C, and a healthy indoor
temperature is 21°C. Therefore, it is important the heating is suitable
and occupiers have access to these controls.



The heating should be fixed to reduce the likelihood of fire.



Fixed heating also reduces the likelihood of hazards associated with
excess cold and excess heat, as it reduces the likelihood of areas of
extreme temperature in the property. This also reduces hazards
associated with damp and mould by reducing the incidence of
condensation and the prevalence of cold surfaces.

Personal washing facilities and WC’s
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (2) as amended by the Licensing and Management of Houses
in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007.
Applies to: Wash hand basins, baths, showers and WC’s

Page 127

3

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Prescribed standards:


Where there are four or fewer occupiers sharing those facilities there
must be at least one bathroom with a fixed bath or shower and a toilet
(which may be situated in the bathroom);



Where there are five or more occupiers sharing those facilities there
must be:
o One separate toilet with wash hand basin with appropriate
splash back for every five sharing occupiers, and;
o At least one bathroom (which may contain a toilet) with a fixed
bath or shower for every five sharing occupiers.



Where there are five or more occupiers of an HMO, every unit of living
accommodation must contain a wash hand basin with appropriate
splash back;



All baths, showers and wash hand basins in an HMO must be
equipped with taps providing an adequate supply of cold and constant
hot water;



All bathrooms in an HMO must be suitably and adequately heated and
ventilated;



All bathrooms and toilets in an HMO must be of an adequate size and
layout;



All baths, showers, toilets and wash hand basins in an HMO must be fit
for the purpose;



All bathrooms and toilets in an HMO must be suitably located in or in
relation to the living accommodation in the HMO.

Locally adopted standards:


Bathrooms should not be more than two-storeys away from any
bedroom and accessible from communal areas;



Bathrooms must have mechanical ventilation to the outside air in
addition to any window(s);



Ventilation should not be obstructed;



Bathrooms and toilets must have a layout satisfactory to the Council;



Bathrooms must have a sufficient fixed heating source.

Page 128

4

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Reference table for prescribed standards:

Number of occupiers

1-4

5

6-10

11-15

15+

Number of bathrooms and WCs
1 x bathroom containing a fixed bath/shower
1 X WC (WC may be contained in a bathroom, or
in a separate compartment with its own wash hand
basin)
1 x bathroom containing a fixed bath/shower
1 x WC in a room containing a wash hand basin
(this WC may be contained in a second bathroom)
2 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
2 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(one of the WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)
3 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
3 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(two of these WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)
4 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
4 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(three of these WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)

If reasonably practicable, wash hand basins are to be provided in each
individual unit of accommodation. It is up to the landlord to demonstrate it is
not reasonably practicable in every room, and the Council will assess this
based on ease of installation and cost. As an alternative, a wash hand basin
should be provided within each shared bathroom and compartment containing
a toilet.
All rooms containing a toilet must also contain a wash hand basin.
Justification:


A sufficient number of amenities reduces the number of hazards
associated with sanitary and personal hygiene.



Ventilation extracts and reduces moisture-laden air contributing to
damp and mould.



Excess cold is reduced by ensuring bathrooms are sufficiently heated.

Page 129

5

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B


An appropriate bathroom layout reduces hazards associated with the
position and operability of amenities etc.

Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (shared
facilities)
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (3)
Applies to: Shared kitchens
Prescribed standards:
Where all or some of the units of accommodation within the HMO do not
contain any facilities for the cooking of food:


There must be a kitchen, suitably located in relation to the living
accommodation, and of such layout and size and equipped with such
facilities so as to adequately enable those sharing the facilities to store,
prepare and cook food.



The kitchen must be equipped with the following equipment, which
must be fit for the purpose and supplied in a sufficient quantity for the
number of those sharing the facilities:
o Sinks with draining boards;
o An adequate supply of cold and constant hot water to each sink
supplied;
o Installations or equipment for the cooking of food;
o Sufficient number of electrical sockets;
o Worktops for the preparation of food;
o Cupboards for the storage of food or kitchen and cooking
utensils;
o Refrigerators with an adequate freezer compartment (or, where
the freezer compartment is not adequate, adequate separate
freezers);
o Appropriate refuse disposal facilities;
o Appropriate extractor fans, fire blankets and fire doors.

Locally adopted standards:
Shared Kitchen Facilities

1-5 occupants

1 x oven with grill
1 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave

Page 130

6

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

6-10 occupants

Cooking
appliances

2 x ovens with grills
2 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave
3 x ovens with grills
3 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave or,

11-15 occupants
2 x ovens with grills,
3 x 4 ring hob and,
2 x microwaves with grills
4 x ovens with grills
4 x 4 ring hob
2 x microwave or,
15+ occupants
3 x ovens with grills,
4 x 4 ring hob
3 x microwaves with grills
1-5 occupants

1 x sink with drainer and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water

6-10 occupants

2 x sinks with drainers and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water

11-15 occupants

3 x sinks with drainer and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water

15+ occupants

4 x sinks with drainers and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water

Sinks and
drainers

1-5 occupants

1 x 150L refrigerator and,
1 x 150L freezer or,

6-10 occupants

1 x combined fridge-freezer
2 x 150L refrigerators and,
2 x 150L freezers or,

11-15 occupants

2 x combined fridge-freezers
3 x 150L refrigerators and,
3 x 150L freezers or,

Fridge
freezers

15+ occupants

3 x combined fridge-freezers
4 x 150L refrigerators and,
4 x 150L freezers or,

Page 131

7

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
4 x combined fridge-freezers
Ovens should not be located under windows or next to
doors or thoroughfares.
Layout
No living accommodation should be more than two-storeys
away from the shared kitchen.

Worktops

Fixed worktops with a smooth impervious surface for food
preparation, minimum size 500mm x 2000mm per every 5
occupiers.

Electrical
sockets

There should be an adequate number of electrical sockets
to allow for every main appliance (e.g. oven, fridge/freezer,
microwave, washing machine etc.), plus 1 socket for every
occupant.

Food
storage unit

Ventilation
Waste
storage
Fire blanket
and fire
doors

Each occupant should have access to a double food
storage cupboard (minimum capacity 0.16m3) and drawer
space.
Each kitchen should have a mechanical extractor fan in
addition to an openable window.
Waste storage facilities must comply with the requirements
below.
Each kitchen must be provided with 1 fire blanket.
Kitchens should have fire doors with 30/60 minute fire
resistance.

If hostels provide all main meals, the kitchen facilities are to be provided for
every 10 occupants and the ovens can be replaced with microwaves.

Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (individual
use facilities)
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (3)
Applies to: Individual use kitchens
Prescribed standards:


Where a unit of living accommodation contains kitchen facilities for the
exclusive use of the individual household, and there are no other

Page 132

8

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
kitchen facilities available for that household, that unit must be provided
with:
o
o
o
o
o

Adequate appliances and equipment for the cooking of food;
A sink with an adequate supply of cold and constant hot water;
A work top for the preparation of food;
Sufficient electrical sockets;
A cupboard for the storage of kitchen utensils and crockery; and
a refrigerator.

Locally adopted standards:
Individual Kitchen Facilities

1 person bedsit

1 x oven and grill
1 x 2 ring hob

2 person bedsit

1 x oven and grill
1 x 4 ring hob

1 person bedsit

1 x sink with drainer and tiled splashback
with constant hot and cold water

2 person bedsit

1 x sink with drainer and tiled splashback
with constant hot and cold water

1 person bedsit

1 x 150L refrigerator with a freezer
compartment

2 person bedsit

1 x 150L refrigerator with a freezer
compartment

Cooking
appliances

Sinks and
drainers

Fridge
freezers

Worktops

Fixed worktops with a smooth impervious surface for food
preparation, minimum size 500mm x 1000mm.

Electrical
sockets

There should be an adequate number of electrical sockets to
allow for every main appliance (e.g. oven, fridge/freezer,
microwave, washing machine etc.), plus 1 socket for every
occupant.

Food
storage unit

Each occupant should have access to a double food storage
cupboard (minimum capacity 0.16m3) and drawer space.

Justification:


An appropriate layout ensures users can safely move around the area
and prepare food sufficiently. Additionally, it reduces hazards
associated with the position and operability of amenities etc.

Page 133

9

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B


The sufficient location of appliances (ovens especially) reduces the
incidence of hazards associated with fire, carbon monoxide, and
flames and hot surfaces etc.



An adequate number of appliances ensures users can prepare and
cook food, and it also reduces the likelihood of food safety related
hazards.



A satisfactory number of electrical sockets reduces the likelihood of
sockets being overloaded, reducing the likelihood of electrical hazards
and fire.



Waste storage facilities mitigate hazards relating to domestic hygiene,
pests and refuse.

Mandatory Requirements in HMOs
Space standards
The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018, regulation 2
Applies to: Sleeping accommodation and shared kitchens
Prescribed standards:
 6.51m2 for one person over 10 years of age.
 10.22m2 for two persons over 10 years of age.
 4.64m2 for one child under the age of 10 years.
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged over 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than
the maximum number of persons aged over 10 years specified in the
licence;
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged under 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than
the maximum number of persons aged under 10 years specified in the
licence;
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged over 10 years and persons aged under 10 years, it is not
used as such by more than the maximum number of persons aged

Page 134

10

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
over 10 years specified in the licence and the maximum number of
persons aged under 10 years so specified;
 The licence holder must notify the local housing authority of any room in
the HMO with a floor area of less than 4.64 square metres;
 Any room in the HMO with a floor area less than 4.64 square metres
must not be used as sleeping accommodation;
 A reference to a number of persons using a room in an HMO as sleeping
accommodation does not include a person doing so as a visitor of an
occupier of the HMO.
 A room is used as sleeping accommodation if it is normally used as a
bedroom, whether or not it is also used for other purposes;
 Any part of the floor area of a room in relation to which the height of the
ceiling is less than 1.5 metres is not to be taken into account in
determining the floor area of that room for the purposes of this
paragraph;
 Space standards do not apply to an HMO which is managed by a charity
registered under the Charities Act 2011 and which:
a) Is a night shelter, or
b) Consists of temporary accommodation for persons suffering or
recovering from drug or alcohol abuse or a mental disorder.
Locally adopted standards:
Shared house type HMO
Type of room
Bedroom shared house

Shared kitchen

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

1 person over 10yrs

6.51m2

2 people over 10yrs

10.22m2

1 child under 10yrs

4.64m2

The kitchen must adequately fit the number of
appliances/facilities required per occupant as
stated above, there must also be room for
occupants to sufficiently move around the
kitchen to prepare food. Where practicable an
area for dining should also be provided within the
kitchen.

Page 135

11

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Shared living room (only
required if there is
insufficient space for
dining in the kitchen)

2m2 per every occupant (up to 6 occupants)
1m2 per every additional occupant (7 occupiers
or more) (e.g. 8 occupants would require 14m2
living space)

Bedsit type HMOs
Type of room

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

Bedsit and living room
with separate kitchen

1 person

9m2

2 people

14m2

Separate kitchen

Bedsit room with
kitchen and living space

The kitchen must adequately fit the number of
appliances/facilities required per occupant as
stated above.
1 person

14m2

2 people

19m2

Separate bedroom sizes must comply with the minimum room sizes above for
shared accommodation.
Please note, where showers are installed within bedrooms (excluding en suite
bathrooms) an assessment will be made on a case by case basis to
determine whether this arrangement utilises space from the minimum size of
the sleeping accommodation required.
Justification


A sufficient room size and layout encourages occupants to eat and
store food in the kitchen and dining areas, reducing the likelihood of
hazards relating to pest infestations in individual rooms.



A sufficient layout and size also reduces the number of hazards
associated with the position and operability of amenities etc., flames
and hot surfaces, falls on the stairs, and falls between levels (as
occupants are less likely to carry hot food through the house).



Larger rooms allow for more space and privacy, and for the storage of
clothes and other items. Additionally, more people are now working
from home so may require additional space for office equipment.

Waste Disposal
The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018

Page 136

12

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Applies to: Waste provisions
Prescribed standards:


The licence holder must comply with any scheme provided by the local
housing authority to the licence holder and which relates to the storage
and disposal of household waste at the HMO.

Locally adopted standards:
Type
Recycling

Specification
Indoor food caddy 1 x 7 litre per every 5 occupants
Food recycling bin 1 x 23 litre per every 5 occupants
Green or black recycling box 1 x 55 litre per every 5
occupants
Blue recycling box 1 x 55 litre per every 5 occupants
Brown bag 1 x every 5 occupants
Green bag 1 x every 5 occupants

Refuse

Wheeled bin or equivalent 1 x 240 litre per every 5
occupants

Please note: Adequate internal (in a non-habitable room) or external storage
must be provided to ensure waste for recycling can be stored for 7 days, and
waste for landfill/incineration, can be stored for up to 14 days.
An optional garden waste collection service is also available for £40 a year.
Justification


Encourages recycling, which reduces the pollution caused by waste,
and promotes sustainable consumption.



Enables the disposal of waste to reduce the likelihood of hazards
relating to domestic hygiene, pests and refuse.

HMO Management
The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations
2006. For section 257 HMOs, similar duties are set out in the Licensing and
Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions)
(England) Regulations 2007
Applies to: Managers of HMOs
Prescribed standards:

Page 137

13

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Manager duties


Duty of manager to provide information to occupier.
o Name, address and any telephone contact numbers are made
available to each household in the HMO;
o Such details are clearly displayed in a prominent position in the
HMO.



Duty of manager to take safety measures.
o All means of escape from fire are maintained and kept free from
obstruction, and maintained in good order and repair;
o Firefighting equipment and fire alarms are kept in good repair;
o All fire escape notices are clearly visible to occupiers;
o All such measures must be taken to protect occupants from
injury.



Duty of the manager to maintain water supply and drainage.
o Water supply and drainage must be maintained in a good, clean
and working condition;
o Any tank cistern or similar receptacle used for the storage of
water used for drinking or other domestic purposes should be
suitably covered, and maintained in a clean and working
condition;
o Water fittings must be protected from frost damage;
o The water supply must not be interrupted at any time.



Duty of manager to supply and maintain gas and electricity.
o Updated gas certificates to be provided to the council within 7
days of a request. Gas safety inspections must carried out by a
recognised engineer;
o Periodic electrical inspections carried out to statutory
requirements by a competent person every 5 years;
o Updated electrical safety certificates specifying the results of the
test must be provided to the council within 7 days;
o The gas and electricity supply must not be interrupted at any
time.



Duty of the manager to maintain common parts, fixtures, fittings and
appliances.
o All common parts must be maintained in a good decorative
repair, in a safe and working condition and be kept clear from
obstruction;
o Handrails and banisters are supplied and kept in good repair;
o Stair coverings are safely fixed and kept in good repair;
o All windows and ventilation is kept in good repair;

Page 138

14

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
o Common parts must be fitted with adequate light fittings, fixtures
and appliances, and kept in good repair and in working order;
o Outbuildings, yards and forecourts must be maintained and in
good condition and order;
o Gardens are kept in a safe and tidy condition;
o Boundary walls, fences and railings are kept in safe repair;
o Any such part of the HMO not in use is kept clean and free from
refuse and litter.


Duty of the manager to maintain living accommodation.
o Living accommodation and furniture supplied are in a clean
condition and kept in good repair;
o Internal structures are kept in good repair;
o Any fixtures, fittings or appliances are kept in good repair and
working order;
o Every window and means of ventilation are kept in good repair.



Waste storage facilities are provided.
o Sufficient bins or suitable receptacles are provided that are
adequate for the requirements of each household;
o Waste disposal must be in accordance with the Council’s policy.

Please note: The manager of the property must be fully conversant with the
above legislation.

Tenant duties
Every occupier of the HMO must:


Conduct themselves in a way that does not hinder or frustrate the
manager in the performance of his duties;



Allow the manager, for any purpose connected with the carrying out of
any duty imposed on him by these Regulations, at all reasonable times
to enter any living accommodation or other place occupied by that
person;



Provide the manager, at his request, with any such information as he
may reasonably require for the purpose of carrying out any such duty;



Take reasonable care to avoid causing damage to anything which the
manager is under a duty to supply, maintain or repair under these
Regulations;



Store and dispose of litter in accordance with the arrangements made
by the manager; and

Page 139

15

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B


Comply with the reasonable instructions of the manager in respect of
any means of escape from fire, the prevention of fire and the use of fire
equipment.

The manager of the HMO should advise tenants of their duties outlined
above.

Miscellaneous recommendations
The following recommendations are not prescribed in statue or locally set.
They are areas landlords are recommended to look at implementing for best
practice, in order to improve the property for both themselves and their
tenants. They will not routinely form a part of the licence conditions.
Minimum Bedroom Sizes
Whilst there are prescribed standards set by The Licensing of Houses in
Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England)
Regulations 2018, the Council recommends landlords work towards providing
accommodation that fits the minimum room sizes set out below:
Shared house type HMO
Type of room
Bedroom shared house

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

1 person over 10yrs

7.5m2

2 people over 10yrs

11.5m2

1 child under 10yrs

6.0m2

These room sizes have been developed in accordance with the minimum
technical housing standards for affordable accommodation.
There is evidence to suggest there is an association between space and
wellbeing, and thus it is proposed that landlords work towards these
standards as best practice to promote positive tenant mental health and
wellbeing.

Energy Efficiency
Since 1 April 2018, there has been a legal requirement that all properties let
on new tenancies (including renewals) must hold an EPC Band E. Moreover,
this has been a requirement since 1 April 2020 on all privately rented
properties (even where there has been no change in tenancy).
We recommend licence holders take reasonable steps in improving the
energy efficiency of their properties, and work towards improving the EPC

Page 140

16

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
towards Band C where practicable. This can be beneficial for both landlords
and their tenants as:


Properties cost less to heat, making them more attractive to potential
tenants and cheaper for landlords who include bills as part of their
tenancy agreement. Properties with an EPC Band C cost around £300
less per annum to heat than those at Band D, and around £740 less
than Band E properties.



The property is less likely to have deficiencies contributing towards
Category 1 and 2 hazards under the HHSRS. For example, less
condensation is likely to occur if the property can be kept warm,
meaning a reduction in redecoration and maintenance costs.



Property value can increase with a higher EPC Band by as much as
14%.



Reduces fuel poverty, and ensures homes meet the Fuel Poverty
(England) Regulations 2014 requirement of a Band C rating by 2030.

Additionally, in line with meeting the government target to bring all
greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050, sustainable measures should
be encouraged (e.g. water saving initiatives, upgrading appliances, lagging of
pipework, efficient fabrication of buildings, LED lighting replacements,
recycling facilities etc.).
More information on the financial and environmental impacts of sustainable
homes can be found in this report by the Environment Agency.
Details on how to apply for a Green Homes Grant can be accessed on the
Government website. Please note these grants must be redeemed and
utilised by March 2022.

Lead in drinking water
Exposure to lead in drinking water is one of the 29 HHSRS hazards and can
be harmful to health, especially for babies and young children. Therefore, it is
recommended that the licence holder or manager checks the water pipes in
the property to ensure that there are no lead pipes or fittings present. The
licence holder or manager should use the table below created by South West
Water to check for lead pipework. The best places to check are under the
stairs, behind the kitchen cupboards and in basements.
If you come across lead piping this should be changed. In the short term, you
should encourage tenants to run the tap for approximately two minutes every
morning, or after periods when the property has been left vacant. To ensure
water isn’t wasted, this water could be collected and used for other purposes
(e.g. water plants or washing cars).

Page 141

17

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Material
Lead

Appearance

Suitable

Dull grey on the outside
Easily scratched to reveal shiny silver
underneath
Dull sound when tapped

No

Copper

Dull brown on the outside
Hard
Bright copper when scratched
Ringing sound when tapped with a coin

Yes

Iron

Dark grey or brown or rusty
Very hard and not easily scratched
Ringing sound when tapped with a coin

Yes

Grey, blue or black

Yes

Plastic

More information pertaining to lead in drinking water can be found on the
South West Water website.

Radon Levels
High levels of radon can cause lung cancer, especially for smokers or exsmokers. Radon produces radioactive particles that are breathed in overtime
and can damage lung tissue. Thus, it is also noted as one of the 29 hazards
assessed by the HHSRS.
Certain geological conditions can lead to above average levels of radon,
including those found in parts of North Devon. Public Health England have
designated certain areas of the country as radon prone areas. These are
1km2 areas with properties which have a 1% chance or more of having a
radon concentration at or above 200 Bq m -3. It is recommended radon levels
should be reduced in homes where the annual average is more than 200 Bq
m-3.
As best practice, we recommend licence holders check whether their property
is located in a radon prone area using the interactive map on the Public
Health England website, and making tenants aware of the risks from radon.
Properties most at risk include those with subterranean storeys. If your
property has any subterranean storey utilised for living accommodation, and is
in a radon prone area; we recommend you order a radon report for your
property, and carry out the necessary mitigation and remediation actions.
More information about radon and how to mitigate the impacts of radon in
your property can be found by visiting the Public Health England website.

Page 142

18

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B
Washing and drying facilities
Drying clothes inside the home can raise moisture levels by up to 30%, thus
increasing the likelihood of mould and condensation within a property. This
can pose a health risk to those prone to respiratory illnesses and allergies.
Personal Hygiene, Sanitation and Drainage is listed as one of the 29 hazards
assessed by the HHSRS. Thus, in the HHSRS Operating Guidance it is
recommended there should be space for a washing machine, and access to
clothes drying facilities within the home. Therefore, it is recommended that
landlords provide provisions for both the washing and drying of clothes (e.g. a
washing machine, tumble dryer, clothes drier with a connection to an external
vent, or washing line) where practicable.
The availability of clothes washing and drying facilities reduces hazards
associated with damp and mould by reducing the incidence of condensation,
and can also result in a reduction in redecoration and maintenance costs
associated with high moisture levels.

Page 143

19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
HOUSING ACT 2004
HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION CONDITIONS

Appendix C

These conditions apply to property No: XXXX relating to House in
Multiple Occupation located at XXXX (‘the property’) shown in red on the attached plan.
The Licensee shall observe and perform the conditions herein contained.
1 Written Statement
1.1 The licence holder must supply to the occupiers of the house a written statement of the
terms on which they occupy it.
2 Anti-Social Behaviour
2.1 The licence holder must issue new tenants/occupiers with a tenancy agreement that
includes clauses that will allow the licence holder to take reasonable steps to tackle antisocial behaviour.
2.2 The licence holder must take all reasonable steps to deal with anti-social behaviour related
events perpetrated by occupiers and/or visitors of the property. The reasonable steps
should be appropriate and proportional.
2.3 The licence holder must take all reasonable steps to ensure that the property is not used
for illegal or immoral purposes.
2.4 The licence holder must ensure that the property is inspected on a regular basis to assess
if there is evidence of anti-social behaviour; this should be increased to more frequent
visits if anti-social behaviour has been established.
3 Waste Disposal
3.1 There should be suitable facilities for the storage and disposal of household waste and
recycling. The licence holder must comply with arrangements set out in the “Amenity,
Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document”.
3.2 Waste storage and disposal must be in accordance with the Council’s waste and recycling
collection requirements.
4 Gas Safety
4.1 The licence holder must comply with the current statutory requirements for gas safety, and
supply to the Council, annually, a gas safety certificate obtained in respect of the property
within the last 12 months. Any defects in the report must be resolved.
4.2 On the expiry of the report, a new report must be supplied to the Council within 1 month of
the previous reports expiry date.

Page 145

1

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

5 Electrical Safety

5.1 The licence holder must comply with the current statutory requirements for electrical
installation, and supply to the Council on demand a current electrical installation condition
report (less than 5 years old). Any defects in the report must be resolved.
5.2 The licence holder must ensure that every electrical installation in the house is in proper
working order and safe for continued use.
5.3 On the expiry of the report, a new report must be supplied to the Council within 1 month of
the previous reports expiry date.
6 Furniture Safety
6.1 Where applicable, the licence holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture made
available by him in the house, in a safe condition. Worn or dangerous furniture or fittings
must be replaced.
6.2 The licence holder must supply to the authority, on demand, a declaration verifying the
safety of the appliances and furniture.
6.3 All furniture must comply with The Furniture and Furnishings (Fire) (Safety) Regulations
1988 (as amended) and any succeeding legislation.
7 Fire Fighting and Safety
7.1 Full compliance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 is a requirement of
this Licence, which includes undertaking a fire risk assessment and implementing the
required controls. The Fire Risk Assessment and resulting precautions must be reviewed
annually and supplied to the Council on demand.
7.2 The licence holder must have regard to the LACoRS “Housing - Fire Safety, Guidance on
fire safety provisions for certain types of existing housing” document. For flats, licence
holders must also have regard to the Local Government Association “Fire safety in
purpose built block of flats” guidance.
8 Smoke and Carbon Monoxide
8.1 The licence holder must ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the
house on which there is a room used wholly or partly as living accommodation.
8.2 The licence holder must ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room in
the house which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a solid fuel
burning combustion appliance
Note: Solid fuel includes coal, wood, etc.
8.3 Any such alarm must be tested at the start of a tenancy and at suitable regular intervals
thereafter, and kept in proper working order.

Page 146

2

Agenda Item 12
8.4 The licence holder must supply the Council, on demand, with a Appendix
declarationC by him as to
the condition and positioning of such alarms.
8.5 The licence holder must supply on demand a satisfactory certificate of inspection and
testing of any such alarms.
9 Amenity Standards and Minimum Room Sizing
9.1 The licence holder must comply with the provisions set out under the “Amenity, Minimum
Room Sizing and Management Standards Document”. This document sets out the
mandatory requirements for HMOs, and locally implemented standards. It is the
responsibility of the licence holder and/or manager to ensure they are complying with this
document.
9.2 The licence holder must comply with the minimum room sizes set out under the “Amenity,
Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document”. It is the responsibility of
the licence holder and/or manager to ensure they are complying with this document.
10 Energy Efficiency
10.1 The licence holder must comply with The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property)
(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 and any succeeding legislation.
10.2 An up to date and current Energy Performance Certificate should be provided to the
Council upon demand.
10.3 Steps should be taken by the licence holder to improve the energy efficiency and
sustainability of the property.
11 Food Safety
11.1 Where food or drink is provided to tenants, the provider must register with this authority
as a food business.
12 Property Maintenance
12.1 The property must be maintained in good repair. Facilities and equipment must be kept in
a safe condition and good working order. Worn or dangerous fittings must be replaced.
12.2 All doors and windows provided in the house must be maintained with appropriate
security measures.
13 Management
13.1 The licence holder shall comply with the “Amenity, Minimum Room Sizing and
Management Standards Document”. It is the responsibility of the licence holder and/or
manager to ensure they are complying with this document.

Page 147

3

Agenda Item 12

13.2 The licence holder must ensure that any person involved in, or becoming involved in the
ownership or management of the property after the licence dateAppendix
must be aCfit and proper
person, and must supply the Council on demand with a completed fit and proper person
declaration for each person.

13.3 The licence holder must notify the Council in writing of any change to the name, address
or any other contact details of the licence holder, manager or any other person involved in
the management of the property, within 1 month of any change.
13.4 The licence holder must ensure that tenants have 24 hours direct access to all heating,
toilet, personal washing and cooking facilities and equipment.
14 Notices
14.1 A copy of the licence and relevant contact details of the licence holder and manager shall
be displayed at all times in a communal area of the property.
15 General
15.1 The licence holder must ensure there are no sharing of bedrooms, and that the property
is not being used as sleeping accommodation by no more than the maximum number of
persons specified on the licence.
15.2 The licence holder must notify the Council in writing if the occupation of the property is in
excess of the maximum number of persons permitted on the licence within 1 month.
15.3 The licence holder must supply to the Council on demand the names and room numbers
of all occupants in the property.
15.4 The layout of the property (including room numbers) must not be altered without first
gaining written permission from the Council. Requests to alter the layout should be made
in writing, and should include a full description of the proposed changes.
15.5 The licence holder must notify the Council in writing if there are any proposed changes to
the mode of occupation, as there may be a requirement to revise the existing conditions
and/or numbers of persons specified on the licence.

Date: XXXX
Signed:

HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND HOUSING SERVICES

Page 148

4

Agenda Item 12
Houses in Multiple Occupation Licence ref: XXXX

Appendix C

NOTES
It is provided by the Housing Act 2004, as follows:Grant or refusal of licence
64(1)Where an application in respect of an HMO is made to the local housing authority under section 63, the
authority must either—
(a)grant a licence in accordance with subsection (2), or
(b)refuse to grant a licence.
(2)If the authority are satisfied as to the matters mentioned in subsection (3), they may grant a licence either—
(a)to the applicant, or
(b)to some other person, if both he and the applicant agree.
(3)The matters are—
(a)that the house is reasonably suitable for occupation by not more than the maximum number of households or
persons mentioned in subsection (4) or that it can be made so suitable by the imposition of conditions under section
67;
[F1(aa)that no banning order under section 16 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 is in force against a person
who—
(i)owns an estate or interest in the house or part of it, and
(ii)is a lessor or licensor of the house or part;]
(b)that the proposed licence holder—
(i)is a fit and proper person to be the licence holder, and
(ii)is, out of all the persons reasonably available to be the licence holder in respect of the house, the most
appropriate person to be the licence holder;
(c)that the proposed manager of the house is either—
(i)the person having control of the house, or
(ii)a person who is an agent or employee of the person having control of the house;
(d)that the proposed manager of the house is a fit and proper person to be the manager of the house; and
(e)that the proposed management arrangements for the house are otherwise satisfactory.
(4)The maximum number of households or persons referred to in subsection (3)(a) is—
(a)the maximum number specified in the application, or
(b)some other maximum number decided by the authority.
(5)Sections 65 and 66 apply for the purposes of this section.
Licences: general requirements and duration
68 (1)A licence may not relate to more than one HMO.
(2)A licence may be granted before the time when it is required by virtue of this Part but, if so, the licence cannot
come into force until that time.
(3)A licence—
(a)comes into force at the time that is specified in or determined under the licence for this purpose, and
(b)unless previously terminated by subsection (7) or revoked under section 70 [F1or 70A], continues in force for
the period that is so specified or determined.
(4)That period must not end more than 5 years after—
(a)the date on which the licence was granted, or
(b)if the licence was granted as mentioned in subsection (2), the date when the licence comes into force.
(5)Subsection (3)(b) applies even if, at any time during that period, the HMO concerned subsequently ceases to be
one to which this Part applies.
(6)A licence may not be transferred to another person.
(7)If the holder of the licence dies while the licence is in force, the licence ceases to be in force on his death.
(8)However, during the period of 3 months beginning with the date of the licence holder’s death, the house is to be
treated for the purposes of this Part and Part 3 as if on that date a temporary exemption notice had been served in
respect of the house under section 62.
(9)If, at any time during that period (“the initial period”), the personal representatives of the licence holder request
the local housing authority to do so, the authority may serve on them a notice which, during the period of 3 months
after the date on which the initial period ends, has the same effect as a temporary exemption notice under section
62.

Page 149

5

Agenda Item 12

(10)Subsections (6) to (8) of section 62 apply (with any necessary modifications) in relation to a decision by the
Appendix
C exemption notice.
authority not to serve such a notice as they apply in relation to a decision not to serve
a temporary
Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs

72 (1)A person commits an offence if he is a person having control of or managing an HMO which is required to be
licensed under this Part (see section 61(1)) but is not so licensed.
(2)A person commits an offence if—
(a)he is a person having control of or managing an HMO which is licensed under this Part,
(b)he knowingly permits another person to occupy the house, and
(c)the other person’s occupation results in the house being occupied by more households or persons than is
authorised by the licence.
(3)A person commits an offence if—
(a)he is a licence holder or a person on whom restrictions or obligations under a licence are imposed in accordance
with section 67(5), and
(b)he fails to comply with any condition of the licence.
(4)In proceedings against a person for an offence under subsection (1) it is a defence that, at the material time—
(a)a notification had been duly given in respect of the house under section 62(1), or
(b)an application for a licence had been duly made in respect of the house under section 63,and that notification or
application was still effective (see subsection (8)).
(5)In proceedings against a person for an offence under subsection (1), (2) or (3) it is a defence that he had a
reasonable excuse—
(a)for having control of or managing the house in the circumstances mentioned in subsection (1), or
(b)for permitting the person to occupy the house, or
(c)for failing to comply with the condition,as the case may be.
(6)A person who commits an offence under subsection (1) or (2) is liable on summary conviction to [F1a fine] .
(7)A person who commits an offence under subsection (3) is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding
level 5 on the standard scale.
[F2(7A)See also section 249A (financial penalties as alternative to prosecution for certain housing offences in
England).
(7B)If a local housing authority has imposed a financial penalty on a person under section 249A in respect of
conduct amounting to an offence under this section the person may not be convicted of an offence under this
section in respect of the conduct.]
(8)For the purposes of subsection (4) a notification or application is “effective” at a particular time if at that time it
has not been withdrawn, and either—
(a)the authority have not decided whether to serve a temporary exemption notice, or (as the case may be) grant a
licence, in pursuance of the notification or application, or
(b)if they have decided not to do so, one of the conditions set out in subsection (9) is met.
(9)The conditions are—
(a)that the period for appealing against the decision of the authority not to serve or grant such a notice or licence
(or against any relevant decision of [F3the appropriate tribunal]) has not expired, or
(b)that an appeal has been brought against the authority’s decision (or against any relevant decision of such a
tribunal) and the appeal has not been determined or withdrawn.
(10)In subsection (9) “relevant decision” means a decision which is given on an appeal to the tribunal and confirms
the authority’s decision (with or without variation).
Part 3 Appeals against licence decisions
Right to appeal against refusal or grant of licence
Schedule 5, 31 (1)The applicant or any relevant person may appeal to [F3the appropriate tribunal] against a
decision by the local housing authority on an application for a licence—
(a)to refuse to grant the licence, or
(b)to grant the licence.
(2)An appeal under sub-paragraph (1)(b) may, in particular, relate to any of the terms of the licence.
Right to appeal against decision or refusal to vary or revoke licence

Page 150

6

Agenda Item 12

32 (1)The licence holder or any relevant person may appeal to [F4the appropriate tribunal] against a decision by
Appendix C
the local housing authority—
(a)to vary or revoke a licence, or
(b)to refuse to vary or revoke a licence.
(2)But this does not apply to the licence holder in a case where the decision to vary or revoke the licence was
made with his agreement.
32A (1)The right of appeal under paragraph 31(1)(a) does not apply where a licence is refused because of
section 66(3A) or 89(3A) (person with banning order not a fit and proper person).
(2)The right of appeal under paragraph 32(1)(a) does not apply in relation to the revocation of a licence required
by section 70A or 93A (duty to revoke licence in banning order cases).]
Time limits for appeals

33 (1)Any appeal under paragraph 31 against a decision to grant, or (as the case may be) to refuse to grant, a
licence must be made within the period of 28 days beginning with the date specified in the notice under paragraph
7 or 8 as the date on which the decision was made.
(2)Any appeal under paragraph 32 against a decision to vary or revoke, or (as the case may be) to refuse to vary
or revoke, a licence must be made within the period of 28 days beginning with the date specified in the notice
under paragraph 16, 21, 24 or 28 as the date on which the decision was made.
(3) [F6The appropriate tribunal] may allow an appeal to be made to it after the end of the period mentioned in
sub-paragraph (1) or (2) if it is satisfied that there is a good reason for the failure to appeal before the end of that
period (and for any delay since then in applying for permission to appeal out of time).

Page 151

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

North Devon Council
Report to:

Strategy and Resources

Date:
Topic:

5th July 2021
Performance and Financial Management
Quarter 4 of 2020/21

Report By:

Head of Resources

1 Introduction
1.1 This is one of the series of regular quarterly reports on the council's overall operational
and financial performance. The report covers financial as well as operational
performance. It mainly covers the quarter from January to March 2021 but also looks at
the whole year.
1.2 Sections 4 deals with headline performance issues. More detailed performance
information is available in Appendix F.
2 Recommendations
2.1 That the actions being taken to ensure that performance is at the desired level be noted.
2.2 That the contributions to/from earmarked reserves be approved (section 4.2).
2.3 That the movements on the Strategic Contingency Reserve (section 4.3) be noted.
2.4 That council approve the variations to the Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 in
section 4.4.88
2.5 That funds are released for the capital schemes listed in section 4.4.14
2.6 That the sections dealing with Treasury Management (section 4.5), and Debt
Management (sections 4.6 and 4.7) be noted.

3 Reasons for Recommendations
3.1 To ensure that appropriate action is taken to allow the council to meet its objectives.
3.2 To inform Members of actual results compared to the approved Corporate Plan, as well
as progress in delivering service within the Revenue budget and Capital Programme.

Page 153

Agenda Item 13
4 Priority – Resources
4.1 Revenue
4.1.1 The revenue budget for 2020/21 was approved at Council on 26th February 2020 at
£13,380,000 and as at 31 December 2020, the Council was reporting a net surplus of
£28,000 against the budget.
4.1.2 As at 31 March 2021 it is pleasing to report that the final out turn position is a budget
surplus of £593,000, which is an overall movement of £565,000 from the last forecast at
quarter 3. The breakdown showing the movements are shown in Appendix A –
Variations in the Revenue Budget.
4.1.3 The original budget for 2020/21 included a forecast to achieve £200,000 worth of salary
vacancy savings, this was exceeded by £189,000 giving an overall actual saving of
£389,000.
4.1.4 Throughout 2020/21 Central government announced and paid local authorities 4
tranches of support funding totalling £1,575,000 for North Devon. We have also
claimed £160,000 in respect of the job retention scheme and received £251,000 New
Burdens grant for SBG and RHLG. Central government also supported local authorities
for lost income by paying 75% of any lost income after Councils incur the first 5%
variance. This lost income and additional costs have been factored into the above
figures in Appendix A along with the anticipated government support.
4.1.5 The movement from Q3 of £565,000 can be attributed to:


£307,000 Additional income from Planning, Building Control and rental income, in
particular Butchers Row.



£82,000 additional COVID support grant for EH&H and Corporate and
Community, where no additional support was bought in and extra duties were
covered by existing resources.



£123,000 EH&H housing underspend, from less Temporary Accommodation cost
and savings on general supplies and services.



£53,000 Other smaller savings from various Heads of service

4.1.6 The Business Rate Retention scheme was introduced in April 2013 which sees Billing
authorities receive a ‘baseline’ funding but in addition they are exposed to the risks and
rewards of retaining a proportion of the income collected. This exposure is mitigated by
participation in the Devon-wide pool that collates all of the Business Rate growth and
decline and returns a share of the impact to each local authority.
4.1.7 As at 31st March 2021 the Collection Fund reserve balance is £9,810,252. This
earmarked reserve was created to deal with the timing impacts of the Collection Fund
(Business Rates), which ensures the revenue budget is not unduly affected in the year
the taxes are collected. Collection Fund deficits/surpluses are reversed out to bring the
revenue account back to the budgeted figure for the year; the deficits/surpluses are
recovered/distributed in the following financial years. This reserve includes an
£8,660,000 balance that will be utilised in 2021/22 and 2022/23 to mitigate timing
differences of business rate reliefs awarded in 2020/21 that from an accounting
perspective impact over the next two financial year; thus leaving the fund reserve with a

Page 154

Agenda Item 13
residue balance of £1,150,000 protection against future volatility. This is an increase of
£417,000 on the previous year end reserve balance.
4.1.8 From the revenue budget surplus of £593,000, it is proposed to set aside this amount
into the following earmarked reserves as follows:

(£375,000) COVID budget management reserve – There is government
funding for Q1 built into the base budget, this will give us extra protection of Q2
and the rest of the financial year.



(£118,000) – Economic Development reserve – This will bolster capacity for
future building and regeneration projects.



(£50,000) General fund reserve – This still leaves us in the recommended
range of 5 - 10%, but gives us a little more protection due to the volatile climate
we are currently experiencing.



(£50,000) Environmental Initiatives reserve – To fund climate action group
projects (revenue costs)

4.1.9 At the 31st March 2021 total external borrowing was £500,000. The timing of any
future borrowing is dependent on how the authority manages its treasury activity and
due to current low interest rates and reduced returns on investments it is prudent for
the Council to ‘internally borrow’ and use these monies to fund the Capital
Programme.
4.1.10 The recommended level of general fund balance is 5%-10% of the council’s net
revenue budget £669,000 to £1,338,000. The actual general fund reserve at 31 March
2021 is £1,211,000, which is a level of 9.1%.
4.2 Earmarked Reserves 2020/21
4.2.1 Appendix B – Movement in Reserves & Balances details the movements to and from
earmarked reserves in 2020/21.

4.3 Strategic Contingency Reserve
4.3.1 Full details of the Strategic Contingency Reserve movements and commitments are
attached as Appendix C – Strategic Contingency Reserve.

4.4 Capital
4.4.1 The 2020/21 Capital Programme is attached as Appendix D – Capital Programme
2020/21.
4.4.2 The Budget and Financial Framework report to Full Council 26th February 2020
outlined the Capital Programme for the 2020/21 financial year of £12,622,028. Project
under spends of £2,673,332 were brought forward from 2019/20 year and further
variations of (£8,184,848) were approved as part of the performance and financial

Page 155

Agenda Item 13
management reports to Strategy and Resources to produce a revised 2020/21 Capital
Programme of £7,110,512.
4.4.3 Actual spend on the Capital Programme for 2020/21 financial year was £6,170,533.
The variance against the budget of £7,110,512 is (£939,979); the majority of which will
be carried forward into the 2021/22 Capital Programme to fund on-going projects.
4.4.4 In order to pay for the £6,170,533 capital investment the Council funded this from
£5,115,391 received from external sources in the form of grants and other assistance,
£513,794 of internal resources held specifically for capital projects, £156,623 from
capital receipts and £384,725 from internal borrowing.
4.4.5 The 2021/22 to 2024/25 Capital Programme is attached as Appendix E – Capital
Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25.
4.4.6 The Budget and Financial Framework report to Strategy and Resources 1st February
2021, outlined the Capital Programme for the 2020/21 financial year of £7,110,512;
2021/22 financial year of £22,419,916 and 2022/23 financial year of £1,924,488.
4.4.7 Project under spends of £917,121 from 2020/21 year are brought forward to produce a
revised Capital Programme for 2021/22 year of £23,337,037; 2022/23 financial year
of £1,924,488.
4.4.8 Further variations of £11,357,807 are proposed to the 2021/22 to 2024/25 Capital
Programme as follows:

Scheme

Amount (£)

Notes

Future High Street Fund

965,280

21/22 variation - Full Council 17th
Feb ‘21

Future High Street Fund

3,010,296

22/23 variation - Full Council 17th
Feb ‘21

Future High Street Fund

2,573,300

23/24 variation - Full Council 17th
Feb ‘21

Future High Street Fund

4,395,124

24/25 variation - Full Council 17th
Feb ‘21

300,000

21/22 variation – Full Council 24th
Feb ‘21

Ilfracombe Water Sports Centre
Leisure Provision Seven Brethren Bank

51,715

21/22 variation – Self-deploying
steps, fully funded by Sport England

S106 Oxford Park Play Area,
Ilfracombe – Additional Play Equipment

6,600

Strategy and Resources Committee
– 1st Feb ‘21

S106 Grant to Braunton Parish Council
towards the Enhancement of
Chaloners Road Play Area

26,993

Strategy and Resources Committee
– 17th May ‘21

Page 156

Agenda Item 13
S106 Grant to Braunton Cricket Club
towards the provision of an artificial
grass training facility and nets

28,499

Strategy and Resources Committee
– 17th may ‘21

4.4.9 The revised Capital Programme for 2021/22 to 2024/25 taking into account the budget
variations above is £36,619,332 and is broken down as follows:
o 2021/22 £24,716,124
o 2022/23 £4,934,784
o 2023/24 £2,573,300
o 2024/25 £4,395,124
4.4.10 The Programme of £36,619,332 is funded by Capital Receipts / Borrowing
(£18,866,483), External Grants and Contributions (£15,511,561) and Reserves
(£2,241,288).
4.4.11 The timing and realisation of capital receipts can be impacted by events beyond the
control of the Council and we have been able to manage cash flows for projects through
internal borrowing.
4.4.12 We also have authority to borrow from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) as
outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Investment Strategy and the Council
currently has external borrowing of £500,000.
4.4.13 Release of Funds – 2021/22 Capital Programme
4.4.14 Once funds have been included in the Capital Programme the Constitution requires a
separate decision to release those funds. Accordingly the schemes below need the
funds to be released so that spending can start within the following three months:


Future High Street Fund £10,944,000



Ilfracombe Water Sports Centre £300,000



Leisure Provision Seven Brethren Bank £51,715

4.5 Treasury Management
4.5.1 The Bank Rate remained at 0.10% during the quarter.
4.5.2 The average 7 day LIBID (inter-bank bid rate), the Council’s benchmark rate at 31st
March 2021, was -0.07% (previous year 0.53%).
4.5.3 The return earned on the Council’s investments was 0.16% (previous year 0.71%).
4.5.4 £52,650 investment interest was earned during the financial year. (2020/21 interest
receivable budget was £50,000)
4.5.5 As at 31st March 2021, the Council had total external borrowing of £500,000.

Page 157

Agenda Item 13
4.5.6 £8,905 interest was paid at an average rate of 1.56% on the PWLB loans during the
financial year. (2020/21 interest payable budget was £74,000)

4.6 Debt Management
4.6.1 The major areas of credit income are Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefit
Overpayment Recoveries and General Debtors.
4.6.2 As billing authority, the Council annually raises the bills for Council Tax (£69,000,000)
and Business Rates (£32,000,000).
4.6.3 Collection rates are controlled through monitoring:


the level of write offs



levels of previous years’ outstanding debt



the level of income collection in the year against the annual sums due to be
collected.

4.6.4 The council’s budget is based on the assumption that eventually 97.5% of sums due
will be collected. To ensure this level is achieved, year on year levels of write offs
approved are controlled against a ceiling of 2.5% of annual debt.
4.6.5 The outstanding amounts at 31st March 2021 are as set out below:

Council Tax
Age in Years

2019/20
£’000

Business Rates

2020/21
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

1–2

911

1,409

253

579

2–3

544

728

80

217

3–4

323

446

55

82

4–5

209

269

26

44

5–6

125

185

15

22

Over 6

181

264

63

68

4.6.6 Irrecoverable debts from previous years not exceeding £1,500 can be written off with
the authorisation of the Chief Financial Officer. Decisions on whether to write off debts
over £1,500 rest with the Chief Financial Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the
Council. As at 31 March 2021 the amount of accounts written off was as follows:

Less than £1,500
No. of
accounts

More than £1,500

Amount

No. of
accounts

Page 158

Amount

Agenda Item 13
698

£25,038.30

Council Tax

49

£53,736.22*

59

£1,270.19

Business Rates

71

£76,799.06**

117

£23,647.72

Housing Benefits

6

£13,846.94

* £42,020.08 due to bankruptcy (see section 4.6.8)
** £23,713.06 due to bankruptcy and company insolvency (see section 4.6.8)
4.6.7 The monitoring of in year collection is carried out against national performance
indicators targets of sums collected in year as a percentage of the Net Sums Due for
that year.
4.6.8 The majority of the write offs are individual bankruptcy and company insolvency and in
a number of cases include liabilities for previous years. In these cases we are unable to
recover the debt. However, if at a later date a dividend is paid, the money is allocated to
the account and the relevant amount written back on.
4.6.9 The other main reason for write offs is where the person has gone away (no trace).
However, write offs are reviewed and where we find the persons contact address the
write off is reversed and recovery action continues.
4.6.10 The levels of collection are:
Achieved
2019/20

Achieved
2020/21

Council tax

96.80%

95.98%

Business rates

97.07%

92.82%

4.6.11 The Authority has received funding from major preceptors to help support the billing
and collection of Council Tax and Business Rates which we hope will see an increase in
the above collection levels.

4.7 General Debtors
4.7.1 The level of general invoices raised was £6,420,000 at 31st March 2021 (previous year
£9,280,000).
4.7.2 A summary of outstanding debt, by age, is set out below with comparison to the
previous year.

Page 159

Agenda Item 13
Age of debt

31 Mar 2020

31 Mar 2021
£’000

£’000
3 weeks to 6 months

697

398

6 months to 1 year

163

99

1 to 2 years

245

387

2 to 6 years

294

391

Over 6 years

43

111

1,442

1,386

TOTAL

4.7.3 The aged debt over 6 years increased by £69,000 in relation to Aylesford Newsprint.
Our debt remains lodged with the Administrators pending the sale of the site.
4.7.4 In accordance with the Constitution, irrecoverable debts not exceeding £1,500 can be
written off with the authorisation of the Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial
Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, must authorise the write off of
debts over £1,500.
4.7.5 As at 31st March 2021, the amounts written off were as follows:
Number of
Invoices

Written offs - £1,500 &
under

81

£48,528

Number of
Invoices

Written offs - over
£1,500

3

£5,684

5 Equality Assessment
5.1 There are no equality implications anticipated as a result of this report
6 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
Article and
paragraph

7.12

Appendix
and
paragraph
13, para 4.7

Referred or
delegated
power?
Delegated
power

A key
decision?

In the
Forward
Plan?

No

No

7 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
7.1 The authors (below) confirm that advice has been taken from all appropriate Councillors
and officers.
8 BACKGROUND PAPERS
None
Author:
Tony Rumble, Accountancy Manager
Date: 17h June 2021
Ref: I:\Projects\Single Report\2020-21 Q4\Q4 Perf & FM 20-21.doc

Page 160

Agenda Item 13

Page 161

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Appendix A
Appendix A – Variations in the Revenue budget
Service and Cost Area
Temporary Accommodation
Deposits
General Supplies & Services
Covid Compliance Grant
Other
Environmental Health & Housing
Rental income
Rates
Housing Benefits Subsidy / Collection Fund
Lynton Agency Income Reduction
Water Charges
Other
Resources
Leisure & Theatres
Legal income
Grant income
Democratic Representation & Management
Other
Corporate & Community Services
Works & Recycling Employees Agency Covid19
Works & Recycling Employees Other
Works & Recycling Vehicle costs
Works & Recycling Trade Waste Tipping
Charges
Works & Recycling Supplies & Services
Works & Recycling Bulk Haulage
Works & Recycling Reserve Contribution
Works & Recycling Trade Waste income
Works & Recycling Recycling Credits
Works & Recycling Shared Savings Scheme
Covid-19
Works & Recycling Shared Savings Scheme
Works & Recycling Recycling Sales
Works & Recycling Garden Waste
Works & Recycling Other
Car Parks Pay & Display income
Car Parks Other income (Ringo, Season
Tickets, PCN)
Car Parks Ringo charge
Operational Services
Harbour reduced income
HR Prof Fees, Further Education, Management
Development
ICT Software
Streamline charges

Page 163

Qtr 3
£
110,000
(30,000)
0
0
0
80,000
59,000
21,000
135,000
67,000
0
(10,000)
272,000
417,000
9,000
0
(19,000)
0
407,000

Outturn
Movement
£
£
44,000
(66,000)
(23,000)
7,000
(64,000)
(64,000)
(49,000)
(49,000)
(12,000)
(12,000)
(104,000)
(184,000)
(31,000)
(90,000)
6,000
(15,000)
135,000
0
50,000
(17,000)
(15,000)
(15,000)
(24,000)
(14,000)
121,000
(151,000)
425,000
8,000
8,000
(1,000)
(33,000)
(33,000)
(19,000)
0
(38,000)
(38,000)
343,000
(64,000)

363,000
(34,000)
(6,000)

363,000
(86,000)
(44,000)

0
(52,000)
(38,000)

(72,000)
46,000
(51,000)
0
197,000
(14,000)

(82,000)
2,000
(5,000)
75,000
176,000
(48,000)

(10,000)
(44,000)
46,000
75,000
(21,000)
(34,000)

72,000
(66,000)
208,000
(15,000)
7,000
1,275,000

72,000
(66,000)
120,000
(43,000)
(8,000)
1,459,000

0
0
(88,000)
(28,000)
(15,000)
184,000

268,000
0
2,178,000
24,000

215,000
(18,000)
2,082,000
24,000

(53,000)
(18,000)
(96,000)
0

(60,000)
0
26,000

(60,000)
(5,000)
21,000

0
(5,000)
(5,000)

Agenda Item 13
Appendix A
Service and Cost Area

Qtr 3
£
(33,000)
(43,000)
25,000
80,000
60,000
116,000
(8,000)
273,000
(91,000)
(36,000)
(132,000)
302,000
(160,000)
(268,000)

Outturn
Movement
£
£
(19,000)
14,000
(39,000)
4,000
0
(25,000)
(91,000)
(171,000)
14,000
(46,000)
118,000
2,000
(18,000)
(10,000)
23,000
(250,000)
(189,000)
(98,000)
(64,000)
(28,000)
(150,000)
(18,000)
287,000
(15,000)
(160,000)
0
(251,000)
17,000

Other
Corporate Services
Place Employees
Planning fee income
Building Control income
Pannier Market income
Other
Place
Additional Vacancy saving
Reduction in Travel Allowances
Borrowing costs
Business Rates Growth reduction
Job Retention Scheme
New Burdens
Estimated 75% Government Reimbursement for
lost income
(1,510,000) (1,411,000)
Contribution to Repairs Fund Reserve
40,000
240,000
Contribution to Earmarked Reserves
150,000
268,000
Additional Government Funding Covid-19
(1,575,000) (1,575,000)
Covid-19 Initial Response - PPE and work
environment
85,000
0
Other
0
(14,000)
Other
(3,195,000) (3,019,000)
Total

(28,000)

Page 164

(593,000)

99,000
200,000
118,000
0
(85,000)
(14,000)
176,000
(565,000)

Agenda Item 13
Appendix B – Movement in reserves and Balances

Earmarked Reserves
Collection Fund Reserve
Repairs Fund
Community Housing FundHsg Enabling
Capital Funding Reserve
Covid Budget Management
Reserve
Flexible Homelessness
Support Grant

Vehicle Renewals Fund
Crem Equipment
Replacement Reserve
Transformation Reserve
Economic Development
Reserve
Crem Earmarked Reserve
Office Technology Reserve
Planning Enquiries Fund
Ilfracombe Watersports
Centre Reserve
Local Plans Fund
Digital Transformation
Financial Systems
Strategic Contingency
Reserve
Council Tax Support
Scheme Reserve
Leisure Centre
Replacement Reserve
New Homes Bonus
Reserve
Rough Sleeper Initiative DCLG grant
CCTV Reserve
Collection Fund Reserve
(Council Tax)
Tarka Tennis Surface
replacement
Improvement Programme
Reserve
Greensweep Replacement
Fund
Self Build & Custom
Housebuild
Next Step Accom
Programme

Appendix B
Transfer
from
Reserve
s (to
Capital)

Transfer
from
Reserves
(to
Revenue)

Transfer
between
Reserve
s

Closing
Balance
31st March
2021

-90,377

-224,793

6,000

9,810,252
796,652

Opening
Balance
1st April
2020

Transfer to
Reserves

732,620
400,003

9,077,632
705,818

569,400
397,587

8,000

0

375,000

375,000

200,990

112,308

313,298

171,790

250,000

240,000
0

57,288
250,000

143,987
199,948
193,099
190,133

126,240
30,613
137,000

3,180
144,125

156,867
11,725

168,895

-109,507

116,79
5

304,995

-7,139
-34,550
-98,828

-20,676

467,893
397,587

-7,585
-20,000

297,288
242,861
235,677
230,560
223,686
170,133

-1,880

158,167
155,850

-4,330

143,890

193,842

30,000

-80,000

143,842

79,919

89,130

-27,420

141,629

63,099

78,000

125,147

45,050

78,577
117,000

80,034

0

106,157

106,157

70,873

13,000

83,873

95,817
32,703

75,000

141,099
-39,079
-29,216
-5,000

129,395
112,000

-16,173

79,645

-30,000

77,703

72,302
0

131,118

72,302
51,678
Page
165

51,678

Agenda Item 13
Earmarked Reserves
Parks Reserve
Environmental Initiatives
Rechargeable Works
Reserve
Prevention CLG Grant
Reserve
P C Planned Maintenance
Fund
Community Consultation
Museum development fund
Ilfracombe Harbour Repairs
Car Parking Reserve
Economic Financial
Hardship
Brownfield Land Registers
& Permission
Internal Audit Plan
Brexit Exports EH
District Council Election
Community Protection
Vehicles Reserve
RS Rapid Rehoming
Pathway
Second Homes Council Tax
Reserve
Neighbourhood Planning
External Legal Services
Reserve
IER Funding
Building Control Reserve
Development Control Fund
Specialist Domestic Abuse
Reserve
Lynton Agency Reserve
Members Technology
Reserve
Climate & Environmental
Grants
Litter Bin Strategy
HR Payroll
Town & Parish Fund
Future High Street Fund
FHSF
Noise Equipment reserve
Pannier Market
Habitat Directive Reserve
Local Welfare Support
reserve

Opening
Balance
1st April
2020

Transfer to
Reserves

0
0

115,730
50,000

0

49,641

Transfer
from
Reserve
s (to
Capital)

Transfer
AppendixTransfer
B
from
between
Reserves
Reserve
(to
s
Revenue)

-64,179

Closing
Balance
31st March
2021

51,551
50,000
49,641

45,317

45,317

40,156
38,383
10,539
10,000
30,496

40,156
38,383
33,033
31,806
30,496

0

31,391
31,806

-8,897
-10,000

30,000

30,000

26,263
25,687
25,000
0

25,000

26,263
25,687
25,000
25,000

18,000

6,000

24,000

19,782

23,956

125,289
23,250
30,000
13,138
18,000
15,600

-19,782
101,86
8

0

10,710

0
0
0
5,159

20,000
10,000
7,500

45,271
129
0
945

23,421
23,250
-7,210

22,790
22,032
18,000
15,600

-5,000

13,901
13,522

8,894

18,901
13,522

2,000
1,872

541

23,956

10,710
-10,000

10,000
10,000
7,500
5,159

-41,050

4,221
2,129
1,872
945
541

Page 166

Agenda Item 13
Earmarked Reserves
Office Accommodation
Reserve
Theatres Reserve

Covid-19 Funding Reserve
Provision for Brexit Reserve

Opening
Balance
1st April
2020

Transfer to
Reserves

Transfer
from
Reserve
s (to
Capital)

Transfer
AppendixTransfer
B
from
between
Reserves
Reserve
(to
s
Revenue)

41
6,000

-6,000

52,672
52,452

1,521,938

5,395,56
8

13,812,97
8

513,79
4

Page 167

1,574,61
0
-52,452
2,344,60
0

Closing
Balance
31st March
2021

41
0

0
0

0

16,350,15
2

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Appendix C
APPENDIX C - STRATEGIC CONTINGENCY RESERVE

Resources Available
Balance brought forward 1st April 2020
Contribution to reserve 2020/21

£
(193,842)
(30,000)
(223,842)

2020/21 Spend

£

Blue Glass Recycling Boxes

80,000

Spend in Year

80,000

Balance Remaining at 31 March 2021

Page 169

(143,842)

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX D - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21

Project

Original
Budget
2020/21
£

Actual
20/21
£

Variance
-ve =
Overspend

Carry
Forward

Complete
(C) / Carry
forward (CF)
/ On-going

Chief Executive and Corporate
Website Improvement
Office Technology Fund - End User Assets and IT Assets in
Data Centre

5,455

5,200

255

0

C

60,034

29,521

30,513

30,513

CF

216,140

175,891

40,249

40,249

CF

52,715

52,954

-239

-239

CF

334,344

263,566

70,778

70,523

Museum of Barnstaple - Long Bridge Wing

39,573

33,484

6,089

5,000

CF

21:21 (Transformation Project)

16,546

16,173

373

0

C

255

0

255

0

C

Online Consultation Software System

14,700

0

14,700

14,700

CF

S106 Contributions - Various projects

498,864

386,725

112,139

112,139

CF

30,000

29,892

108

0

C

4,560

3,583

977

0

C

3,171,315

3,367,288

-195,973

-195,973

CF

3,775,813

3,837,145

-61,332

-64,134

5,000

0

5,000

5,000

CF

42,046

35,986

6,060

6,060

CF

1,328,729

1,254,365

74,364

74,364

CF

ICT Improve Back-up and Recovery Capabilities
ICT Skype for Business

Page 171

Corporate and Community

Committee Administration System

Leisure Provision at Seven Brethren

Environmental Health & Housing
Affordable Housing delivery Grant
ECO Warm up Grants
Disabled Facilities Grant Programme

Agenda Item 13

Tarka Tennis Artificial Grass Pitch

Appendix D

Fremington Quay Wall Repair - Phase 1

Boyton House

173,459

101,868

71,591

71,591

CF

25,674

7,964

17,710

17,710

CF

1,574,908

1,400,183

174,725

174,725

446,500

218,425

228,075

228,075

CF

Rolling Road - for Workshop

31,790

30,795

995

0

C

Trade Waste Software

36,000

0

36,000

36,000

CF

950

0

950

0

C

515,240

249,220

266,020

264,075

29,670

7,651

22,019

22,019

CF

115,000

0

115,000

115,000

CF

10,730

3,861

6,869

6,869

CF

155,400

11,512

143,888

143,888

Barnstaple Bus Station re-furbishment

5,000

4,170

830

0

C

Ilfracombe Harbour - Kiosks

8,772

4,326

4,446

4,446

CF

0

-2,126

2,126

0

C

Jubilee Gardens reserved car park retaining wall

31,447

0

31,447

31,447

CF

Resurfacing to various car parks

20,000

18,637

1,363

1,363

CF

Retaining Wall - Watersmeet Car Park Lynton

22,000

14,488

7,512

0

C

Retaining Wall - Cross Street Car Park Lynton

9,500

0

9,500

9,500

CF

Esplanade Wall

49,208

49,208

0

0

C

Refurbishment Lower Lyndale Public Toilets, Lynmouth

30,000

25,489

4,511

0

C

Provision of temporary accommodation

Operational Services
Works Unit Vehicles

HGV Ramps

Place

Page 172

Land Release Fund - Seven Brethren
CCTV service
Replacement Planning ICT system

Resources

Agenda Item 13

Appendix D

East Face Steps - Ilfracombe Harbour

HR and Payroll System

33,894

20,675

13,219

13,219

CF

Pannier Market Re-roofing works

46,768

30,017

16,751

16,751

CF

0

-2,878

2,878

0

C

1,318

0

1,318

1,318

CF

246,900

246,900

0

0

504,807

408,906

95,901

78,044

250,000

0

250,000

250,000

250,000

0

250,000

250,000

7,110,512

6,170,532

939,980

917,121

Replacement roof Old Bus Station
Water Sports Centre Ilfracombe
Acquisition of Land off Frankmarsh, Barnstaple

On-going

Resources - Non Treasury
Acquisition of Corporate Property

CF

Page 173

Agenda Item 13

Appendix D

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Appendix E
Appendix E – Capital Programme 21/22 TO 24/25

Project

Original
Budget
2021/22
£

Original
Budget
2022/23
£

Original
Budget
2023/24
£

Original
Budget
2024/25
£

Chief Executive and Corporate
ICT Capital Investment 22/23
Office Technology Fund - End User
Assets and IT Assets in Data Centre
ICT Improve Back-up and Recovery
Capabilities

0

432,570

0

0

489,122

0

0

0

40,249

0

0

0

84,156

0

0

0

613,527

432,570

0

0

5,000

0

0

0

130,000

0

0

0

14,700

0

0

0

174,231

0

0

0

11,044,350

0

0

0

11,368,281

0

0

0

Affordable Housing delivery Grant

5,000

0

0

0

Affordable Housing Fund
S106 Affordable Housing - Higher
Westaway, Newton Tracey

90,000

0

0

0

45,000

0

0

0

550,060

0

0

0

1,428,364

979,000

0

0

71,591

0

0

0

277,710

0

0

0

2,467,725

979,000

0

0

ICT Skype for Business

Corporate and Community
Museum of Barnstaple - Long
Bridge Wing
Queens Theatre - Flat roof
Online Consultation Software
System
S106 Contributions - Various
projects
Leisure Provision at Seven Brethren

Environmental Health & Housing

ECO Warm up Grants
Disabled Facilities Grant
Programme
Boyton House
Provision of temporary
accommodation

Operational Services

Page 175

Agenda Item 13
Appendix E

Project

Works Unit Vehicles

Original
Budget
2021/22
£

Original
Budget
2022/23
£

Original
Budget
2023/24
£

Original
Budget
2024/25
£

2,021,676

347,918

0

0

36,000

0

0

0

35,000

0

0

0

760,000

0

0

0

2,852,676

347,918

0

0

2,022,019

0

0

0

CCTV service

115,000

0

0

0

Future High Street Fund

965,280

3,010,296

2,573,300

4,395,124

6,869

0

0

0

3,109,168

3,010,296

2,573,300

4,395,124

46,394

0

0

0

0

65,000

0

0

Ilfracombe Harbour - Kiosks
Jubilee Gardens reserved car park
retaining wall

49,446

0

0

0

31,447

0

0

0

Resurfacing to various car parks
Retaining Wall - Cross Street Car
Park Lynton
Public Maintenance - Public House
corner of Castle Street and 16
Castle Street

36,159

0

0

0

9,500

0

0

0

90,000

0

0

0

HR and Payroll System

13,218

0

0

0

369,983

100,000

0

0

3,170,350

0

0

0

89,000

0

0

0

109,250

0

0

0

Trade Waste Software
Greensweep / Bartec migration and
automation
Material Recovery Facility Infrastructure

Place
Land Release Fund - Seven
Brethren

Replacement Planning ICT system

Resources
Barnstaple Bus Station refurbishment
Marine Drive Car Park Resurfacing Ilfracombe

Pannier Market Re-roofing works
Water Sports Centre Ilfracombe
Acquisition of Land off Frankmarsh,
Barnstaple
Planned Maintenance Seven
Brethren

Page 176

Agenda Item 13
Appendix E

Project
Digital Transformation Asset and
Financial Management System

Original
Budget
2021/22
£

Original
Budget
2022/23
£

Original
Budget
2023/24
£

Original
Budget
2024/25
£

40,000

0

0

0

4,054,747

165,000

0

0

250,000

0

0

0

250,000

0

0

0

24,716,124

4,934,784

2,573,300

4,395,124

Resources - Non Treasury
Acquisition of Corporate Property

Page 177

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix F
Table A: High level status of all service plan actions tracked on Pentana

Completed

Totals

Page 179

Since the last report
included in the total

437

Overdue

0

Cancelled

Not due

55

85

Total

577

6

Agenda Item 13

Appendix F

Table B: Service plan actions that have been cancelled authorised by SMT
Action

Reason

Corporate Support
C&CS 01 21/22
Implementation of Hybrid Council meetings
solution

Following the High Court judgement published on 28 April 2021, Councils will no
longer have the power to hold meetings virtually after 7 May 2021 and meetings will
have to be held in person in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. The
Government is calling for evidence on the use of virtual arrangements to inform an
evidence base to support new legislation for holding virtual meetings in the future.
Therefore, this action cannot be progressed for formal Council meetings until new
legislation is in place.

Page 180

Agenda Item 13

Appendix F

Table C: Service Plan Actions (6) completed
Completed Date

CEM 02 16/17

30-Apr-2021

25-May-2021

Extension to Marlborough Road Cemetery

A decision has been made to put this back pending a
review of possible additional grave spaces in currently
unused areas.

CREM 02 16/17

Closure Note

28-Feb-2021

17-May-2021

Address H&S concerns in crematorium gardens

The resolution of the Health & Safety issues, with regard to
allocation of budget and outstanding specific concerns, are
now complete.

E&LC 05 20/21 Household Canvass. 2019

Canvass successfully completed

28-Feb-2021

29-Apr-2021

ICT 03 21/22 Census

Census completed. Liaison Manager very pleased with
North Devon’s support with the whole area in the green
with good rates of return.

30-Apr-2021

01-Jun-2021

There is now a full time Project, Procurement and Section
106 assistant in post to help support the procurement
officer. Due to maternity leave, some external expertise
has been bought in from Exeter City Council. Support and
guidance for procurement has therefore been provided in
line with this target

31-Jan-2021

18-May-2021

New income banded scheme was approved for 2020/21;
some minor changes to scheme have been out for public
consultation

30-Apr-2021

07-Jun-2021

PRO 01 16/17
To continue to provide support and guidance on
the procurement process. From the business
planning it will be clear how much procurement is
needed over the authority and relevant support
provided
R 01 21/22
Review of Council Tax Support scheme 2021/22

Agenda Item 13

Due Date

Appendix F

Closure Note

Page 181

Action

Table D: Actions where Heads of Service have requested a revision to the due date and these have been approved by SMT
Code

Description

Current due
date

Revised due
date request

Reason & (if applicable Officer) requesting
this change

Ken Miles

C&C 03
20/21

Streamline feedback process

30-Apr-2021

31-Aug-2021

We are experiencing problems with the
software integrating with Firmstep and so I
request an extension of three months to give
us time to rectify this situation that is out of
our hands.

Ken Miles

C&C L
03
19/20

Regulators' Code (came into
effect 6th April, 2014) Was
CSS 03 15/16 transferred from
EH&H 2015/16 Service Plan

30-Apr-2021

31-Aug-2021

It is anticipated that significant progress will
be made by end August 2021

ED 03
17/18

Ilfracombe Key Sites Harbour /
Seafront development

30-Apr-2021

31-Aug-2021

The Tidal Pool is still in its infancy and will
require a feasibility plan and external funding
to go ahead.

Page 182

HoS

Jon Triggs

Breakwater – No change

The promenade and footway up to the
Chapel are part of the long term Harbour plan
when the old tool booths are gone; this will

Agenda Item 13

Harbour Office – this is now included on the
Property Plan so this element will need to be
transferred.

Appendix F

New kiosks were fully completed in March
2020 and the relocation of the Old toll booths
are due for completion this coming winter.

HoS

Code

Description

Current due
date

Revised due
date request

Reason & (if applicable Officer) requesting
this change

not be completed for some time and will need
to be included in a future Service Plan

Ken Miles

CE HR
01
19/20

Employee Wellbeing Strategy

30-Apr-2021

31-Aug-2021

Since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic
there have been numerous measures which
have been introduced to promote mental
health and wellbeing. Other positive actions
which have already been introduced include:

Page 183

i) A self-referral system for accessing
counselling
ii) The development of a new attendance
policy
iii) Using group supervision counselling when
teams have experienced particularly
traumatic incidents.

Agenda Item 13

A draft strategy has now been produced; this
will be used to consult with representatives
from the staff side to contribute to the
adoption of this important document.

Appendix F

These positive actions have also been
highlighted within the recent Safe Covid-19
Operations Audit report.

HoS

Code

Description

Current due
date

Revised due
date request

Reason & (if applicable Officer) requesting
this change

Ken Miles

H 02
16/17

Works in Default Policy and
procedures

30-Apr-2021

31-Aug-2021

It is anticipated that significant progress will
be made by end August 2021
This action is now under Legal.

30-Apr-2021

31-Mar-2022

HR resources have been re-directed to
Behaviours and LGA Recommendations

Ken MIles

OS
CREM
01
19/20

Improve flower tribute area Aspen and Rowan

31-May-2021

31-Jul-2021

Aspen works complete. Rowan delayed as in
continual use (COVID).

Jon Triggs

OS
PARK
01
19/20

Installation of 3 Electric Vehicle 31-Mar-2021
Charging Points under DCC
Project

31-July-2021

Most recent update 12/5/2021 advising total
budget needed for the installation is lower
than the 12k expected. Installation date has
not yet been confirmed

Ken Miles

OS
W&R 03
19/20

Recycle More Project Bartec
Integration Complete

31-Mar-2021

31-Dec-2021

This is linked to W&R 02 20/21 which is due
in December 2021 therefore request revised
due date to align.

Jon Triggs

P 02
20/21

Undertake wholescale review
of parking charges and
enforcement action

31-Mar-2021

30-Sep-2021

Staff parking is ongoing at the moment and
being agreed with Jon Triggs and Ken Miles.
CEO process and charges are being
reviewed will take longer than originally
expected

Agenda Item 13

Undertake review of car
designations in light of new
ways of working

Appendix F

HR 02
21/22

Page 184

Ken Miles

Code

Description

Current due
date

Revised due
date request

Reason & (if applicable Officer) requesting
this change

Jon Triggs

P 03
20/21

31-Mar-2021

31-Aug-2021

Western Power and Engenie are carrying out
desktop surveys. No installation date has yet
been confirmed

Ken Miles

P 07b
15/16

30-Apr-2021

30-Sep-2021

Ken Miles

CREM
01
20/21

Investigate further
opportunities and funding
streams to increase the
number of EV charging points
beyond the current scheme
To adopt the Traveller
Accommodation DPD and
make the relevant pitch
provision
Investigate opportunities for
income generation for the
service.

31-May-2021

30-Nov-2021

This action has been re-assigned to SMT
collectively. A project team will be put in
place with Property involved in identifying a
potential site.
This action has not progressed due to both
Covid and our Building Surveyor leaving the
authority as building works would be
required.

Page 185

HoS

Investigate feasibility of "in
house" funeral service

31-May-2021

30-Nov-2021

This action has not progressed due to both
Covid and our Building Surveyor leaving the
authority as building works would be
required.

Ken Miles

OS
W&R 08
19/20

Vehicle Wash Provision

31-Mar-2021

31-Jul-2021

3 quoted have been sourced. A decision has
been made to purchase the cheapest quote
at £4,500.00. The order should be placed w/c
14/06/21

Ken Miles

W&R 02
16/17

Improve Recycling Rates

31-Mar-2021

31-Mar-2022

Due to changes in materials we recycle, like
batteries and the recent government waste
consultation going out he materials we collect
could change drastically.

Agenda Item 13

CREM
02
20/21

Appendix F

Ken Miles

HoS

Code

Description

Current due
date

Revised due
date request

Reason & (if applicable Officer) requesting
this change

In addition to this there will shortly be a
recruitment exercise for a new
HoS. Therefore an extension is requested in
order for us to formulate a fresh plan in line
with new guidelines.
Jon Triggs

Parking
01
21/22

Implementation of cash
collection service for Torridge
District Council parking
services

30-Apr-2021

31-Dec-2021

Page 186

Torridge DC are tied into a 4 year contract
with Loomis and are looking at a get out
clause but so far no luck. They very much
want to come back to NDC but can’t at this
current time, will continue dialogue with TDC
and review after the summer period.

Agenda Item 13

Appendix F

Table E: Outstanding Service Plan Actions (0)
Code

Description

Progress Bar

Latest Note

Original Due
Date

Due Date

NIL

Page 187

Agenda Item 13

Appendix F

Table F: Key Performance Indicators : Last year’s data + this year’s results

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q3
2019/20 &
2020/21

28

45

74

178

178

5

40

71

100

100

83%

90%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

67%

91.75

91%

95.19%

96.6%

95%

94.45%

97%

93%

96%

98%

96%

95%

95.68%

94.1%

96%

85%

95.2%

91%

98%

98%

98%

85%

96.25%

50.91%
51.9%

50.77%
53%

47.78%
47.10%

46.07%

Planning
NI 155 Number of
affordable homes delivered
(cumulative1)

Page 188

NI 157a Percentage of
major applications
processed within 13 weeks
NI 157b Percentage of
minor planning
applications processed
within 8 weeks
NI 157c Percentage of
other applications
processed within 8 weeks
Waste & Recycling
L82(i) Total percentage
domestic waste recycled

1

NI 155 changed from Gross to Cumulative

Performance Year
Data Q4
End
2019/20 &
Target
2020/21

45%

Year End Current
Result
Target

93.25%

Latest Note &
History

45%

75%

85.00%
Quarter 4 figures
46.00% not yet available

Agenda Item 13

Performance
Data Q2
2019/20 &
2020/21

Appendix F

Performance
Data Q1
2019/20 &
2020/21

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2019/20 &
2020/21

Performance
Data Q2
2019/20 &
2020/21

Performance
Data Q3
2019/20 &
2020/21

Performance Year
Data Q4
End
2019/20 &
Target
2020/21

Year End Current
Result
Target

Latest Note &
History

Finance
BV8 Percentage of
invoices paid on time

BV9 Percentage of
Council Tax collected
BV78a (M) Speed of
processing - new Housing
Benefit/Council Tax Benefit
claims

Page 189

BV10 Percentage of Nondomestic Rates Collected
Property & Technical

95.76%
93.30%

95.7%
91.3%

95.7%
92.33%

97.00%
97.00%

95.92%
93.28%

97.00%

96.81%
96.01%

98.00%

28.59%
27.47%

55.63%
54.63%

82.33%
81.41%

96.81%
96.01%

98.00%
98.00%

21.5

17.3

17.8

21.3

28.00

19.48

27

27.6

23.8

24.1

28.00

25.6

31.96%
21.07%

57.45%
57.23%

81.30%
81.68%

95.21%

98.26%

98.28%

98.16%

95.21%

June £1.69

Sept £1.74

July £1.79

Sept £1.79

95.21%

97.07%
95.23%

99.05%
99.05%

97.07%
95.23%

28.0

99.05%

98.26%
95.23%

Dec £1.62 March £1.41
March £1.40

£1.76

Agenda Item 13

Dec £1.51

Appendix F

L728 Percentage of the
gross internal area of the
investment estate currently
let
L168 Income per car park
P&D ticket

96.52%
96.20%

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2019/20 &
2020/21

Performance
Data Q2
2019/20 &
2020/21

Performance
Data Q3
2019/20 &
2020/21

L300 Building Regulation Full
Plan applications determined
in 2 months

99%

96%

100%

98%

99%

99%

L301 Building Regulation
Applications examined within
3 weeks

84%

90%

98%

99%

100%

99%

Performance
Data Q4
2019/20 &
2020/21

Year
End
Target

Year
End
Result

Current
Target

95%

98.75
%

95%

95%

98.75
%

95%

92.75
%

95%

99%

Latest Note &
History

Building Control

Page 190

L302 Average time to first
response (Days)

12

10

100%
97%
99%
98%
8

7

10

95%

9
10

5

7

7

7

10

7

Agenda Item 13

Appendix F

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2019/20 &
2020/21
Customer Services & Communications
L999 Feedback Customer
Satisfaction %

Performance
Data Q3
2019/20 &
2020/21

Performance
Data Q4
2019/20 &
2020/21

Year
End
Target

49%

40%

59%

50%

57%
N/A

L997 Customer Service
Satisfaction %

Page 191

L998 Media Satisfaction %
Annual

Performance
Data Q2
2019/20 &
2020/21

N/A

95%
83%

Annual

N/A

92%
N/A

Current
Target

50%

N/A

93%
N/A

Year
End
Result

93%

90%

N/A

90%

N/A

93%
90%

100% 90%

Latest Note &
History

Due to lockdown
unable to send
enough surveys to
gauge a sufficient
satisfaction result
for PI
Unable to send
enough surveys
due to lockdown,
to be able to
gauge a sufficient
result
Survey not carried
out this year

Agenda Item 13

Appendix F

PI Code & Short Name

91

301

16

2

10.2%

43.8%

2.5%

0.3%

LEHH014 Food Hygiene
Interventions Completed

Performance
Data Q3
2019/20 &
2020/21

Year
End
Target

457

796

646

88

187

429

66.3%

88.7%

100%

0.6%

1.2%

100%

Year
End
Result

796

Page 192

Performance
Data Q4
2019/20 &
2020/21

LEHH015 Percentage of
Food Hygiene Due
Interventions Completed

88.7%

Current
Target

Latest Note &
History

187 total
interventions,
although some of
these may not have
been scheduled as
due for
2021. Inspections
due 2021 - 5/429 =
1.2% Naturally,
Covid restrictions
have significantly
affected our ability
to be compliant with
the usual
CoP. Other
directives as a result
of Covid have
directed resource to
compliance with
new restrictions &
other reactive work
as required
100 As note above.

Agenda Item 13

Performance
Data Q2
2019/20 &
2020/21

Appendix F

Performance
Data Q1
2019/20 &
2020/21
Environmental Health & Housing

PI Code & Short Name

LEHH016 Housing Options Number of Homelessness
Prevented & Relieved

Performance
Data Q1
2019/20 &
2020/21
162

Performance
Data Q2
2019/20 &
2020/21
165

Performance
Data Q3
2019/20 &
2020/21
113

102

153

104

135

24

37

29

30

LEHH017 Housing Options Number of Households
Accommodated in Temporary
Accommodation

Year
End
Result
606

121

Page 193

LEHH019 Housing Standards
- Number of DFG's
Completed & Monies Paid

LEHH026 Number of NDC
Lets Through DHC

36

33

33

38

20

68

104

167

30

56

102

214

70

71

87

88

48

98

70

98

Current
Target

Data
only

Latest Note &
History

Prevent 90, Relief
45.

Data
Only

140
167 Data
only

CUMULATIVE TOTALLING
£1,120, 562.62

Data
only

163,468

293,164

361,260

Data
only

£366,156

£227,416

£300,799

£401,580

Data
only

Agenda Item 13

269,616

Appendix F

LEHH020 Housing Standards
– the level of unmet demand
for DFGs

Performance Year
Data Q4
End
2019/20 &
Target
2020/21
166

Constitution Context
Appendix and
paragraph
5.5
2.
2.1

Referred or
delegated power?
Delegated

Statement of Internal Advice
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate Councillors and officers.

Author: Sarah Higgins. Date: June 2021 Reference: Executive Performance Report June 2021

Page 194

Agenda Item 13

Appendix F

Agenda Item 14

North Devon Council
Report Date: 5th July 2021
Topic: Annual Treasury Management Report 2020/21
Report by: Head of Resources
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review
and scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities. This report is
important in that respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for
treasury activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies
previously approved by members.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 The Committee is asked to recommend to full Council that:



The annual treasury management report for 2020/21 be noted;
The actual 2020/21 prudential and treasury indicators be approved.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1 This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local
Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of
activities and the actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2020/21. This
report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on
Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).
3.2 During 2020/21 the minimum reporting requirements were that the full
Council should receive the following reports:
an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 26/02/2020)

a mid year treasury update report (Council 25/11/2020)

an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity
compared to the strategy (this report)
3.3 This Council confirms that it has complied with the requirements under the
Code to give prior scrutiny to all the above treasury management reports by the
Policy Development Committee before they were reported to the full Council.


Page 195

Agenda Item 14
4. REPORT
4.1 The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing
The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.
activities may either be:

These

Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or
 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources,
the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.


The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.
The table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.
2019/20
Actual

£000
Capital expenditure
Financed in year
Unfinanced capital
expenditure


2020/21
Estimate

2020/21
Actual

5,454

10,412

6,171

(4,910)

(7,449)

(5,786)

544

2,963

385

Estimate from the Mid-Year Treasury Management Report

4.2 The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need
The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). This figure is a gauge of the Council’s
indebtedness. The CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and
resources used to pay for the capital spend. It represents the Council’s
unfinanced capital expenditure
Reducing the CFR – the Council’s underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not
allowed to rise indefinitely. Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital
assets are broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset. The Council is
required to make an annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue
Provision – MRP, to reduce the CFR. This is effectively a repayment of the
borrowing need.

Page 196

Agenda Item 14

The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential
indicator.
31 March
31 March
31 March
CFR £000
2020
2021
2021
Actual
Estimate
Actual
Opening balance
4,711
4,746
4,746
Add unfinanced capital
expenditure (as above)
Less MRP
Closing balance

544

2,963

385

(509)

(540)

(540)

4,746

7,169

4,591

Slippages to the capital programme spend during 2020/21 moving to a later year
have resulted in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) reducing by £2.578m
from the Mid-Year 2020/21 estimate and an actual reduction of £0.155m on the
March 2020 actual CFR.
Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for gross borrowing and
the CFR, and by the authorised limit.
Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are
prudent over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should
ensure that its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term,
exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year
(2020/21) plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for
the current (2021/22) and next two financial years. This essentially means that
the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure. The table below
highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR. The Council
has complied with this prudential indicator.
31
March
2020
Actual

£000

31
March
2021
Estimate

31
March
2021
Actual

Gross borrowing
position

1,250

1,500

500

Total CFR

4,746

7,169

4,591

(3,496)

(5,669)

(4,091)

Over / (under) funding
of CFR


Estimate from the Mid-Year Treasury Management Report

Page 197

Agenda Item 14
The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit”
required by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003. Once this has been set, the
Council does not have the power to borrow above this level. The table below
demonstrates that during 2020/21 the Council has maintained gross borrowing
within its authorised limit.
The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected
borrowing position of the Council during the year. Periods where the actual
position is either below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the
authorised limit not being breached.
Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation
costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream.
2020/21
£
22.5m
1.25m
2.25m
0.57m

Authorised limit
Maximum gross borrowing position during the year
Operational boundary
Average gross borrowing position
Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue
stream

3.71%

4.3 Treasury Position as at 31st March 2021
At the beginning and the end of 2020/21 the Council’s treasury position was as
follows:

DEBT PORTFOLIO

31 March
2020

£000

Principal

Rate/
Return

31 March
2021
Principal

Total debt (PWLB)

1,250

CFR

4,746

4,591

Over / (under)
borrowing

(3,496)

(4,091)

Total investments

17,121

Net debt/(investments)

Rate/
Return

2.04%

0.71%

(15,871)

Page 198

500

23,844
(23,344)

1.56%

0.16%

Agenda Item 14

As at 31st March 2021, the Council had a balance of circa £12m of advanced
government funding in relation to Covid-19. This was either to be paid out in
business support grants through the early period of 2021/22 with any residual
balance returned to central government.
The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows:
2020/21
31 March 2020
31 March 2021
Estimate
actual
actual
limits
60%
Under 12 months
£0.75m (60%)
£0m
12 months and within 24
months

£0m

24 months and within 5 years

£0m

100%

£0m

£0.50m (40%)

100%

£0.50m (100%)

£0m

90%

£0m

5 years and within 10 years
10 years and above

60%

£0m

All investments were for maturities less than one year

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
£000

31 March
2020

31 March
2021

Actual

Actual

Treasury investments
Banks

16,250

22,780

TOTAL TREASURY INVESTMENTS

16,250

22,780

During 2020/21, the Council made no material non-treasury investments in
property with the sole purpose of generating an income stream.

Page 199

Agenda Item 14

4.4 The Strategy for 2020/21
Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk - Investment returns which
had been low during 2019/20, plunged during 2020/21 to near zero or even into
negative territory. Most local authority lending managed to avoid negative rates.
The expectation for interest rates within the treasury management strategy for
2020/21 was that Bank Rate would continue at the start of the year at 0.75 %
before rising to end 2022/23 at 1.25%. This forecast was invalidated by the Covid19 pandemic bursting onto the scene in March 2020 which caused the Monetary
Policy Committee to cut Bank Rate in March, first to 0.25% and then to 0.10%, in
order to counter the hugely negative impact of the national lockdown on large
swathes of the economy. The Bank of England and the Government also
introduced new programmes of supplying the banking system and the economy
with massive amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved
businesses to survive the lockdown. The Government also supplied huge amounts
of finance to local authorities to pass on to businesses. This meant that for most
of the year there was much more liquidity in financial markets than there was
demand to borrow, with the consequent effect that investment earnings rates
plummeted.
While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in
terms of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the
financial crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for financial
institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how institutions are
now far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and economic conditions.
Investment balances have been kept to a minimum through the agreed strategy
of using reserves and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than
borrowing externally from the financial markets. External borrowing would have
incurred an additional cost, due to the differential between borrowing and
investment rates as illustrated in the charts shown above and below. Such an
approach has also provided benefits in terms of reducing the counterparty risk
exposure, by having fewer investments placed in the financial markets.

Page 200

Agenda Item 14

Borrowing strategy and control of interest rate risk - During 2020-21, the
Council maintained an under-borrowed position. This meant that the capital
borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully funded with
loan debt, as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow was
used as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as investment returns were
low and minimising counterparty risk on placing investments also needed to be
considered.
The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has
served well over the last few years. However, this was kept under review to avoid
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able
to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of
maturing debt.
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was
adopted with the treasury operations. The Section 151 Officer therefore monitored
interest rates in financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy based upon
the following principles to manage interest rate risks


if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long
and short term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse
into recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings would
have been postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding
into short term borrowing would have been considered.

Page 201

Agenda Item 14


if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE
in long and short term rates than initially expected, perhaps arising from an
acceleration in the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in
the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a sudden
increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position would have been reappraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding would have been drawn whilst
interest rates were lower than they were projected to be in the next few
years.

Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer term
fixed borrowing rates during 2020/21 and the two subsequent financial years.
Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing
over the period.
On 25th November 2020, the Chancellor announced the conclusion to the review
of margins over gilt yields for PWLB rates; the standard and certainty margins
were reduced by 1% but a prohibition was introduced to deny access to borrowing
from the PWLB for any local authority which had purchase of assets for yield in its
three year capital programme. The new margins over gilt yields are as follows: -.



PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)

There is likely to be only a gentle rise in gilt yields and PWLB rates over the next
three years as Bank Rate is not forecast to rise from 0.10% by March 2024 as the
Bank of England has clearly stated that it will not raise rates until inflation is
sustainably above its target of 2%; this sets a high bar for Bank Rate to start rising.

Page 202

Agenda Item 14

4.5 Borrowing Outturn
In May 2020 a PWLB loan of £0.75m matured, leaving the Council’s total external
borrowing at £0.5m. Whilst the borrowing strategy prudently anticipated a further
£1m of external borrowing might be required, cash flow balances and investment
concerns, both counterparty risk and low investment returns, meant that no new
external borrowing was undertaken during the year.
The Council has not borrowed more than, or in advance of its needs, purely in
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.
No debt rescheduling was done during the year as it was not a viable option.

4.6 Investment Outturn
Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by MHCLG
investment guidance, which was implemented in the annual investment strategy
approved by the Council in February 2020. This policy sets out the approach for
choosing investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by
the three main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional market data
(such as rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).
The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and
the Council had no liquidity difficulties.

Page 203

Agenda Item 14
Resources – the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital
resources and cash flow monies. The Council’s core cash resources comprised
as follows:

Balance Sheet Resources (£000)

31 March 2020

General Fund Balance
Earmarked reserves
Provisions
Usable capital receipts/grants
Total

31 March 2021

1,161
5,336
763
3,168
10,428

1,211
7,715
725
2,436
12,087

Investments held by the Council - the Council maintained an average balance
of £35m of internally managed funds. The internally managed funds earned
£52,650 interest at an average rate of return of 0.16%. The comparable
performance indicator is the average 7-day LIBID rate, which was -0.07%. This
compares with a budget assumption of £50,000 investment interest.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. As detailed in the report

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are not any equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report,
as the purpose of the report is to present the Council’s financial position only.
7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
7.1. Part 4 Financial Procedure Rules (Article 13.8) / Article 4.4
7.2. delegated power
8. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
8.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
9. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
9.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers

Jon Triggs, Head of Resources

Page 204

Agenda Item 15

North Devon Council
Report to:

Strategy and Resources Committee

Report Date:

5th July, 2021

Topic:

Afghan Locally Employed Staff (LES) Relocation Scheme

Report by:

J W Mann; Head of Environmental Health & Housing

1.

INTRODUCTION
1.1. UK Government is running an Afghan relocation scheme for locally
employed staff (LES) who have worked for British Forces. The scheme
honours their service and reflects their work and the risks involved.
Commonly, these people will have acted as military interpreters. There is
now a greater fear for their safety as international troops leave the
country.
1.2. Gov. anticipates helping a further 3,000 Afghans settle in the UK, and
local housing authorities have been asked to support this effort and advise
the Home Office of their decision as soon as possible.
1.3. Those who qualify and choose to relocate to the UK with their families are
not expected to return to Afghanistan. After completing five years’ limited
leave, they can apply for permanent residence in the UK, free of charge,
ensuring that they can settle here permanently and continue to build their
lives and future here.
1.4. People coming to the UK under this scheme, may arrive either as a whole
family unit or with the lead person arriving first and their dependents
joining them at a later point, depending on their individual circumstances.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. It is RECOMMENDED that Members:
2.1.1

Advise the Home Office of the Council’s willingness to participate
in the relocation scheme.

2.1.2

Give delegated authority to the Head of Environmental Health &
Housing to relocate up to 2 households in north Devon, subject to:
(i)

The Head of Resources’ agreement on the acceptability of
the level of financial risk; and

Page 205

Agenda Item 15
(ii)

3.

There being robust arrangements in place to provide support
for the families’ wellbeing and integration over the short and
medium term.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1 (Paragraph 2.1.1.) To advise the Home Office of North Devon Council’s
support for the Afghan Locally Employed Staff Relocation Scheme.
3.2 (Paragraph 2.1.2.) To manage the Council’s financial risks, and ensure
the wellbeing of any relocated families over the short and medium term.

4.

REPORT
4.1 The Government has written to all local authorities asking for support to
the Afghan Locally Employed Staff (LES) relocation scheme. The
Government has been running this scheme to relocate Afghan former LES
to the UK since 2013, in recognition of the fact that they are at increased
risk of intimidation, having worked side by side with UK armed forces and
officials. For example, many of those who are eligible under the scheme
have worked as military interpreters. Following the announcement that
NATO military forces will withdraw from Afghanistan, the Government
intends to accelerate the pace of relocations under the scheme and is
looking to local authorities to provide housing and a short-term package of
integration support.
4.2 The Afghan relocation scheme is substantially different from the refugee
resettlement scheme already in place in Devon (now called UK
Resettlement Scheme UKRS). Officers believe that the differences
between the Afghan relocation and UK resettlement schemes are such
that Devon’s resettlement scheme infrastructure cannot simply be
adapted to include the Afghan scheme. Additional capacity and some
different expertise would be needed to respond to the Afghan scheme.
Officers can look at use of other existing resources (e.g. CAB,
Homemaker and community-based organisations), but these would need
to be pulled into a co-ordinated support package/arrangement. This itself
would need capacity to design and commission.
4.3 The accelerated schedule of arrivals over a few months means that
recruiting private sector landlords over a period of months may not be a
viable response. This is further complicated by the differences in the
immigration and initial benefits’ eligibility of people arriving under the
Afghan scheme. It has been suggested that councils should only consider
offering property for Afghan relocation if they can do so from their own
stock or social housing. Even under these circumstances, there are likely
to be greater demands on council housing teams to manage rents and
support benefits’ applications due to the different immigration and benefit
eligibility of people arriving under the relocation scheme.

Page 206

Agenda Item 15
4.4 The funding available under the Afghan relocation scheme is short-term,
but it is certain that relocated families will continue to need support after
four months. Contact points for ongoing support will need to be
established and funded. There needs to be clear separation between the
contact points for relocation and resettlement because of the significant
disparity between the schemes. Funding for longer term support to
relocation could be drawn from the main resettlement programme, which
is received as a non-ring-fenced grant. This would require consensus
from DCC and the district councils participating in the resettlement
programme; Government approval would not be needed. However,
diverting funding from UK resettlement to Afghan relocation will create a
two-tier support offer which reduces support to resettled families without
raising relocated families to the same support level.
4.5 Key differences between the relocation and resettlement schemes are set
out in the document attached: see Appendix A.
4.6 Notwithstanding, the challenges associated with this scheme, Members
may understandably feel there is a moral obligation to support those who
have served our country. For this initiative to be successful in north
Devon, the Council would need to secure affordable accommodation, and
have the assurance there would be ongoing support for the family after
the Government funding ends.
5.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1 The funding available to participating local authorities is set out in
Appendix A. A delayed Habitual Residency Test could result in the
Council having to meet the accommodation and living expenses of the
family until this situation was resolved.

6.

EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1 The Afghan LES Relocation Scheme seeks to protect individuals and their
families who have worked side by side with UK armed forces. They are
now at increased risk of intimidation as forces return to the UK.

7.

CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
Part 3, Annexe 1(h) and Delegated.

8.

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
8.1 This report contains no confidential information or exempt information
under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.

Page 207

Agenda Item 15

9.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
9.1 The following background paper was used in the preparation of this
report:
Fact Sheet for Local Authorities
The Afghan Locally Employed Relocation Scheme, Home Office, May
2021.

10. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
10.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all
appropriate Councillors and Officers:
Jeremy W Mann
Head of Environmental Health and Housing
23rd June, 2021

Page 208

Scheme Comparison – June 2021

Relocation

Resettlement

Primary Nationally

Afghan nationals

Syrian nationals

PRA Language

English / Dari

Arabic / Kurdish

Support Period

4-month integration support package that includes
helping arrivals to access education places for
children, health services and access to mainstream
benefits.

Five years. Assigned caseworker to every resettled
family or individual who maintains close contact with
the family for the first 12 months to support their wellbeing and integration. Years 2 – 5, LA’s determine
the best use of funding claimed to support refugees
in their journey towards integration and selfsufficiency.
Year 1: £8,500 per person (pp)
Year 2: £5,000 pp
Year 3: £3,700 pp
Year 4: £2,300 pp
Year 5: £1,000 pp
Individuals resettled through the VPRS and VCRS
since July 2017 have been granted five years’
refugee leave on arrival. Those resettled before July
2017 were granted five years’ Humanitarian
Protection (HP). Opportunity to apply for Indefinite
Leave to Remain at the end of that 5-year period.

Funding

Immigration Status

Eligible to claim
benefit

Set-up and void Costs
Integration (lump sum):
(lump sum):
 £4,500 pp
 £1,250 pp
 £6,000 pp (couples)
 £1,425 pp (couples)
 £7,500 singles
 £2,850 singles
LES who meet the eligibility criteria will be offered a
relocation package, which provides the opportunity to
apply for limited leave to enter the UK under Part 7 of
the Immigration Rules. Successful applicants will
receive a UK visa which grants 5 years limited leave to
enter the UK, and an opportunity to apply for Indefinite
Leave to Remain at the end of that 5-year period.
LES are not eligible for benefits until they can satisfy
the Habitual Residency Test set by the Department of
Work and Pensions (DWP) which can take up to 3
months, so the local authority supports those who
arrive under the relocation schemes for up to 4
months.

Resettled individuals have an immediate right to work
and access to mainstream welfare benefits,
dependant on their circumstances and whether they
meet the relevant Department for Work and Pensions
criteria for the specific benefit for which they are
applying.

Agenda Item 15

Scheme Type/Focus

Appendix A

Vulnerable Persons and Vulnerable Children's
Resettlement Schemes

Page 209

Afghan Locally Employed Staff (LES) – relocation
schemes

Eligible to work

Yes, once issued with a biometric residence permit
number

Rent

£15 per person, per day (up to 4 months)

Housing Benefit

Cash Support

Weekly cash support rates (up to four months):
 Single (under 25) - £58.90
 Single (25 or over) - £74.35
 Couples - £117.10
 Children (under 18) - £37.75
None

Initial cash allowance for each Refugee of £200/£300
(this is to ensure they have
sufficient funds to live on while their claim for benefits
is being processed)

None

Children (5-18) £4,500 / Children (3-4) £2,250 (lump
sum)

No

Yes

No

Yes

English for speakers
of other languages
(ESOL) funding
Education funding

Page 210

Eligible for
exceptional costs
from Home Office
(e.g. complex cases)
Considered suitable
for Community
Sponsorship

£850 per adult

Agenda Item 15

Appendix A

Agenda Item 16
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT: Funding for Food Bank

2) REQUESTED DECISION: Decision to provide £6000 to Northern Devon Food
Bank from the Covid Hardship Fund

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
Funding provided by NDC allows NDF to provide support to those in need as a result
of Covid. This includes providing electricity top ups etc. Previous funding has now
run out and so further top up funds are required.
4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
The funding can come from the Covid Hardship Fund
5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
The alternative is to not fund the NDF but that would mean that people in need of
crucial support would lose the ability to access that support.
6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
None
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
None
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):

Page 211

Agenda Item 16

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Date

Y

3/5/21

Lead Member

Y

3/5/21

Ward Member(s)

N/A

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)
(or Vice-Chair)

Head of Service (name)
Finance
Legal

N

11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE:
Customer Services Manager
12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES
13) DATE OF DECISION:
10/5/21

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS:
Agree to the provision of funding
15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
05/07/2021

Page 212

Agenda Item 16
GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 213

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16
Appendix A
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; continuation funding for 4 x units of Housing First
and an additional 2 units of Housing First Accommodation via Encompass Southwest
at the cost of £40,000 over a 12 month period.
3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional £357,600
from Government following a submission to the Rough Sleepers Initiative
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of continuation funding and additional Housing First accommodation (6 x units of
continuation accommodation and an additional 2 x units of accommodation from
Encompass Southwest who provide Housing First accommodation across North
Devon and Torridge.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate service delivery as of the
01.04.2021 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk of
having to return the funding.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

Page 215

Agenda Item 16
Appendix A
5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A

7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A

8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
Specification attached plus confirmation of grant funding from MHCLG
10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)
Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)
(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)
Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

08.03.2021

Finance

Yes

08.03.2021

Legal

Yes

08.03.2021

11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE:

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES or NO

13) DATE OF DECISION:

Page 216

Agenda Item 16
Appendix A

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS:
15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
05/07/2021

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 217

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16
Appendix B
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; a full-time Community Psychiatric Nurse (CPN)
via Mental Health Services at the cost of £47,500 over a 12 month period.

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional £357,600
from Government following a submission to the Rough Sleepers Initiative
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of continued resources (1.0 Community Psychiatric Nurse) from Devon Partnership
Trust who provide Mental Health services for the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate service delivery as of the
01.04.2021 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk of
having to return the funding.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

Page 219

Agenda Item 16
Appendix B
5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant funding from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)
Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)
(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)
Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

08.03.2021

Finance

Yes

08.03.2021

Legal

Yes

08.03.2021

11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE:

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES or NO

13) DATE OF DECISION:

Page 220

Agenda Item 16
Appendix B

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS:

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
05/07/2021

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application

Page 221

Agenda Item 16
Appendix B
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 222

Agenda Item 16
Appendix C
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; 2 x full-time Outreach Navigators via Freedom
Community Alliance at the cost of £75,000 over a 12 month period.

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional £357,600
from Government following a submission to the Rough Sleepers Initiative
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of more resources (2.0 Outreach Navigators- two continuation posts) from Freedom
Community Alliance who currently provide the Navigator service.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate service delivery as of the
01.04.2021 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk of
having to return the funding.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:

Page 223

Agenda Item 16
Appendix C
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A

7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A

8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant award from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)
Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)
(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)
Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

08.03.2021

Finance

Yes

08.03.2021

Legal

Yes

08.03.2021

11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE:

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES or NO

Page 224

Agenda Item 16
Appendix C
13) DATE OF DECISION:

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS:

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
05/07/2021

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and

Page 225

Agenda Item 16
Appendix C

3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 226

Agenda Item 16
Appendix D
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT: Royal Mail contract
2) REQUESTED DECISION: To approve a further three-month extension of the
Royal Mail contract to allow for the complex procurement process to be
completed.
3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT: The procurement process is a complicated one as we are not able to
direct award the contract as we’d hoped and need to go out to mini competition.
There is no Strategy and Resources meeting in June and the July meeting would
be too late as the contract runs out on 10 June.
We were anticipating being able to carry out a direct award under the Crown
Commercial Services framework agreement for the provision of these services but
it transpires that this is unlikely to be value for money and going down a further
competition route is likely to result in better pricing and allow the council to take
into account factors other than price alone. This became clear in a meeting on 26
May and so this is the first opportunity to seek this decision.
4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: An analysis of the market shows there would be no
financial disadvantage to the council of not going out to procurement for its
collection and delivery service at the end of the current contract as there is
currently little price difference between suppliers.
The cumulative cost of the variations to date given we have already extended by 6
months (at an added cost of £57,147.50 to the overall contract value of £457,180)
over and above the original contract awarded. This would be another £28,573.75
so a cumulative variation of £85,721.25. Given that a procurement process will
immediately be carried out this should be a low risk variation since it is so short
term and competing suppliers will be able to take part in a procurement for a
contract of up to 7 years.
5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
We carry on with no contract in place breaking contract procedure rules.
6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:

Page 227

Agenda Item 16
Appendix D
N/A
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
Crown Commercial Service R6017 lot 3 pricing schedule for collection and delivery of
letters, large letters, and parcels. I:\Projects\Corporate Procurement\Corporate &
Community\CC - 028 Postal Services
The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of the
report.
10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)
Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)
(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)
Head of Service (name)
Finance
Legal

11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: CLAIRE HOLM

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES

Page 228

Agenda Item 16
Appendix D
13) DATE OF DECISION: 27th May 2021

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS:
Approved as the item could not have been reported to the previous Committee but
can not wait until the next.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
05/07/2021

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application

Page 229

Agenda Item 16
Appendix D
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 230

